Aus der

Urologische Klinik und Poliklinik

der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München



The effect of hospital caseload on perioperative morbidity and treatment-related costs in patients undergoing

## radical cystectomy

# Der Effekt des Krankenhaus-Caseloads auf die perioperative Morbidität und behandlungsassoziierte Kosten bei der

#### radikalen Zystektomie

Dissertation

zum Erwerb des Doktorgrades der Medizin

an der Medizinischen Fakultät der

Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

vorgelegt von

**Nikolaos Pyrgidis** 

aus

Thessaloniki, Griechenland

Jahr

2023

Mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der

Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität zu München

Erster Gutachter:	Priv. Doz. Dr. Gerald Bastian Schulz		
Zweiter Gutachter:	Prof. Dr. Philipp Kazmierczak		
Dritter Gutachter:	Prof. Dr. Alexander Karl		

Promovierter Mitbetreuer:	Prof. Dr. med. Alexander Buchner
Dekan:	Prof. Dr. med. Thomas Gudermann

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 20.12.2023

# **Table of Contents**

1.	Abbreviations	7
2.	Zusammenfassung	8
3.	Abstract	10
4.	Introduction	12
4.1	Epidemiology	12
4.2	Etiology	12
4.3	Pathological staging and classification	14
4.4	Symptoms	16
4.5	Diagnosis	16
4.6	Management of non-muscle invasive bladder cancer	17
4.7	Management of muscle-invasive bladder cancer	19
4.8	Radical cystectomy	19
4.9	Perioperative outcomes after radical cystectomy	24
4.10	Caseload volume and radical cystectomy	25
4.11	Gaps in the literature	27
4.12	Purpose of the present study	28
5.	Material and Methods	29
5.1	German Nationwide Inpatient Data	29
5.2	Eligibility criteria and coding	29
5.3	Annual hospital caseload threshold	31
5.4	Data synthesis and statistical analysis	32
6.	Results	35
6.1	Baseline characteristics	35
6.2	Baseline characteristics and annual hospital caseload	38
6.3	Perioperative outcomes based on caseload volume of <20, 20-49 and ≥50 RC/	
6.4	Perioperative outcomes based on caseload volume of <50 and ≥50 RC/year	41
6.5	Perioperative outcomes based on caseload volume of <10, 10 to 19 and ≥20 RC/year	43
6.6	Perioperative outcomes based on caseload volume of <20, 20 to 69 and ≥70 RC/year	49
7.	Discussion	55
7.1	Results Interpretation	55
7.2	Mortality after radical cystectomy	55
7.3	Morbidity after radical cystectomy	56
7.4	Length of hospital stay and hospital revenues after radical cystectomy	59
7.5	Available evidence for hospital caseload	60

7.6	Operative techniques and radical cystectomy	62
7.7	COVID and radical cystectomy	63
7.8	Strengths and limitations	64
8.	Conclusions	66
9.	References	68
10.	Acknowledgements	85
11.	Affidavit	86

#### **Table Content**

Table 1: The latest TNM classification 15 Table 2: Procedures, coexisting conditions, and complications assessed in the present 30 study Table 3: Annual hospital radical cystectomy caseload threshold for major perioperative 32 outcomes Table 4: Baseline characteristics based on the annual hospital caseload of <20, 20 to 49, 37 and ≥50 cases/year Table 5: Regression based on the annual hospital caseload of <20, 20 to 49, and ≥50 40 cases/year Table 6: Regression based on the annual hospital caseload of 50 and ≥50 cases/year 42 Table 7: Baseline characteristics based on the annual hospital caseload of <10, 10 to 19, and ≥20 cases/year 45 Table 8: Regression based on the annual hospital caseload of <10, 10 to 19, and ≥20 cases/year 48 Table 9: Baseline characteristics based on the annual hospital caseload of <20, 20 to 69, and ≥70 cases/year 51

Table 10: Regression based on the annual hospital caseload of <20, 20 to 69, and ≥70</th>cases/year54

5

# Figure Content

Figure 1: Urinary diversion with an ileal conduit	21
Figure 2: Urinary diversion with a ureterocutaneostomy	22
Figure 3: Urinary diversion with an orthotopic neobladder	23
Figure 4: Filtering, sampling, code development, and processing of the DRG dataset	34
Figure 5: Annual trends based on hospital caseload (<20, 20 to 49, and ≥50 cases/year)	38
Figure 6: Annual trends based on hospital caseload (<50 and ≥50 cases/year)	41
Figure 7: Annual trends based on hospital caseload (<10, 10 to 19, and ≥20 cases/year)	45
Figure 8: Kaplan-Maier curve for mortality based on hospital caseload (<10, 10 to 19, ≥20 cases/year)	and 46
Figure 9: Annual trends based on hospital caseload (<20, 20 to 69, and ≥70 cases/year)	51
Figure 10: Kaplan-Maier curve for mortality based on hospital caseload (<20, 20 to 69, ≥70 cases/year)	and 52

# 1. Abbreviations

BCG:	Bacillus Calmette-Guérin	
CCI:	Comprehensive Complication Index	
CI:	Confidence Interval	
CIS:	Carcinoma In Situ	
EAU:	European Association of Urology	
G1:	Grade 1	
G2:	Grade 2	
G3:	Grade 3	
GRAND:	German Nationwide Inpatient Data	
ICD-10-GM: International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10th revision, German modification		
NIS:	Nationwide Inpatient Sample	
OPS:	Procedure Classification (Operationen- and Prozedurenschlüssel)	

OR: Odds Ratio

PUNLMP: Papillary Urothelial Neoplasm of Low Malignant Potential

- RC: Radical Cystectomy
- RCT: Randomized-Controlled Trial
- ROC: Receiver-Operating-Characteristics
- SD: Standard Deviation
- TUR-B: Transurethral Resection of the Bladder tumors
- USA: United States of America
- WHO: World Health Organization

#### 2. Zusammenfassung

Die aktuellen Leitlinien der Europäischen Gesellschaft für Urologie empfehlen, dass Krankenhäuser jährlich mindestens zehn, vorzugsweise aber mehr als zwanzig RC durchführen, um akzeptable perioperative Ergebnisse zu erzielen. Dennoch ist die optimale jährliche Fallzahl für die RC nach wie vor unbekannt. Daher haben wir uns zum Ziel gesetzt, einen evidenzbasierten Schwellenwert für das optimale jährliche RC-Krankenhausvolumen zu ermitteln und dessen klinische Bedeutung anhand der wichtigsten perioperativen Ergebnisse (Mortalität, Morbidität, Verweildauer und behandlungsassoziierte Kosten) zu bewerten. Auf der Grundlage der DRG-Datenbank, der vom Forschungsdatenzentrum des Statistischen Bundesamtes für die Jahre 2005 bis 2020 zur Verfügung gestellt wurde (Antrag: LMU - 4710-2022), wurde durch ROC-Analysen ein optimaler jährlicher Schwellenwert für das Krankenhausvolumen definiert. Die DRG-Datenbank enthält alle vergüteten stationären Fälle Deutschlands mit Ausnahme der psychiatrischen, forensischen und militärischen Fälle. Alle Daten sind im Forschungsdatenzentrum des Statistischen Bundesamtes anonymisiert gespeichert. Alle Krankenhäuser sind verpflichtet, Patientendaten zu stationären Diagnosen, Begleiterkrankungen sowie perioperativen Ergebnissen und operativen Eingriffen zu verschlüsseln und an das Institut für das Entgeltsystem im Krankenhaus zu übermitteln. Diese Daten sind für alle deutschen Krankenhäuser verpflichtend, um ihre entsprechende Vergütung zu erhalten. Die Diagnosen und perioperativen Ergebnisse werden nach dem ICD-10-GM verschlüsselt und die chirurgischen Eingriffe nach dem deutschen OPS. Auf der Grundlage der ROC-Analysen wurde der optimale jährliche Schwellenwert für das Krankenhausvolumen, in Bezug auf Mortalität, Ileus, Sepsis, Transfusion, Verweildauer und behandlungsassoziierte Kosten, bei 54, 50, 44, 44, 71 und 76 RC/Jahr bestimmt. Deswegen wurde der jährliche Schwellenwert von 50 RC/Jahr und 70 RC/Jahr, sowie der vorgeschlagene von den europäischen Leitlinien (20 RC/Jahr) verwendet, um multiple Analysen auf Patientenebene durchzuführen. Insgesamt wurden 95,841 Patienten eingeschlossen. Davon wurden 28,291 Patienten (30 %) in Krankenhäusern mit niedrigem (<20 Fälle/Jahr), 49616 (52 %) in Krankenhäusern mit mittlerem (20-49 Fälle/Jahr) und 17,934 (19 %) in Krankenhäusern mit hohem Caseload (≥50 Fälle/Jahr) in Deutschland behandelt. Multivariaten Analysen zeigten, dass Patienten, die in High-Caseload-Krankenhäusern operiert wurden, mit einem statistisch signifikant niedrigeren Mortalitätsrisiko (OR: 0,72, 95% CI: 0,64 bis 0,8, p < 0,001) im Vergleich zu Patienten, die in Low-Caseload-Krankenhäusern operiert wurden, verbunden waren. Dazu wurden die Kosten um 457 Euro (95% CI: 207 bis 707, p < 0,001) und die Verweildauer um 2,7 Tage (95% CI: 2,4 bis 2,9, p < 0,001) nach RC in High-Caseload-Krankenhäusern reduziert. Interessanterweise traten bei Patienten, die in Low-Caseload-Krankenhäusern operiert wurden, mehr perioperative Komplikationen (Transfusionen, Ileus und Sepsis) auf. Darüber hinaus war der Schwellenwert von 70 Fällen/Jahr auch mit besseren perioperativen Ergebnissen (Mortalität, Morbidität, Verweildauer und Kosten) verbunden. Die Zentralisierung der RC scheint nicht nur die Morbidität und die Mortalität zu verbessern, sondern auch die Verweildauer und die behandlungsassoziierten Kosten. Auf der Grundlage der Analysen sollten Krankenhäuser mit mindestens 50 RC/Jahr als Referenzzentren und Krankenhäuser mit weniger als 10 RC/Jahr sollten Patienten an andere Zentren überweisen.

#### 3. Abstract

The European guideline recommendations on bladder cancer suggest that hospitals should perform at least ten, and preferably more than twenty RC per year, to achieve acceptable perioperative outcomes. Still, the optimal annual caseload volume for RC remains unknown. Thus, the present dissertation aimed to determine an evidence-based optimal annual RC hospital volume threshold and to evaluate its clinical significance based on major perioperative outcomes (mortality, morbidity, length of hospital stay, and hospital revenues). Based on the DRG dataset provided by the Research Data Center of the Federal Bureau of Statistics from 2005 to 2020 (agreement: LMU - 4710-2022), an optimal annual hospital volume threshold was defined through ROC analyses. The DRG dataset contains all reimbursed inpatient cases in Germany apart from psychiatric, forensic, and military cases. All data are available and stored anonymized at the Research Data Center of Federal Bureau of Statistics. All hospitals are required to code and transfer to the Institute for the Hospital Remuneration System patient data on inpatient diagnoses, coexisting conditions, as well as on perioperative outcomes, and surgical procedures. These data are mandatory for all German hospitals to receive their corresponding remuneration. These diagnoses and perioperative outcomes are coded according to the ICD-10-GM, whereas surgical procedures are coded according to the German OPS. Based on these ROC analyses, the optimal annual hospital volume threshold for RC that reduces mortality, ileus, sepsis, transfusion, hospital stay, and costs was determined by 54, 50, 44, 44, 71, and 76 RCs/year, respectively. Thus, both the annual threshold of 50 and 70 cases/year and the annual threshold of 20 cases/year as proposed by the European recommendations on bladder cancer were used to perform multiple analyses on a patient level. Overall, 95,841 patients were included. Of them, 28,291 (30%) underwent RC in low- (<20 cases/year), 49,616 (52%) in intermediate- (20-49 cases/year), and 17,934 (19%) in high-volume (≥50 cases/year) hospitals in Germany. After adjusting for major determinants, patients undergoing surgery in high-volume hospitals were associated with statistically significant lower risk for mortality (OR: 0.72, 95% CI: 0.64 to 0.8, p < 0.001) compared to patients undergoing surgery in low-volume hospitals. Moreover, the costs were reduced by 457 euros (95% CI: 207 to 707, p < 0.001) and the length of hospital stay by 2.7 days (95% CI: 2.4 to 2.9, p < 0.001) after RC in high-volume hospitals. It should be highlighted that patients that underwent surgery in low-volume hospitals developed more perioperative complications (transfusion, ileus, and sepsis). Furthermore, the threshold of 70 cases/year was also associated with improved perioperative outcomes (mortality, morbidity, hospital stay, and costs). The centralization of aggressive bladder cancer care seems to not only improve morbidity and mortality but also to reduce both the length of hospital stay and hospital revenues. Based on the present analyses, hospitals that perform at least 50 RCs/year should be considered referral centers, hospitals that perform at least 70 RCs/year should be considered excellence centers and hospitals that perform less than 10 RCs/year should refer patients to other centers.

# 4. Introduction

## 4.1 Epidemiology

Bladder cancer is considered among the commonest cancer types worldwide, accounting for approximately 550,000 new cases every year <sup>1</sup>. It is responsible for about 200,000 deaths every year <sup>2</sup>. According to estimates of the Robert Koch Institute, approximately 28,000 people are diagnosed with bladder cancer and 6,000 people die from bladder cancer every year in Germany <sup>3</sup>. It is considered the second most common urological malignancy after prostate cancer <sup>4</sup>. Nevertheless, its incidence and mortality rates widely differ worldwide due to differences in risk factors, diagnostic procedures, and variations in access to the medical healthcare system. Bladder cancer mainly affects the elderly with a median age at diagnosis of about 73 years <sup>2</sup>, posing an important burden to both the patients and the healthcare system <sup>5</sup>. The risk of developing bladder cancer before 70 years of age is about 2% for men and 0.5% to 1% for women <sup>6</sup>.

In Germany, bladder cancer is considered the fourth most common tumor in men and the 14<sup>th</sup> most common tumor in women. Overall, men are diagnosed about three times more often than women <sup>7</sup>. The age-standardized yearly incidence of bladder cancer is about 18 cases per 100,000 men and 4.5 cases per 100,000 women. Accordingly, its age-standardized yearly mortality rate is about 3 deaths per 100,000 men and 1 death per 100,000 women <sup>8</sup>. In about 75% of the cases, bladder cancer is diagnosed in a non-muscle invasive stage at the time of initial diagnosis. Interestingly, considering that common symptoms of urinary bladder cancer include macrohematuria, pollakiuria, or dysuria and given that these symptoms may be often attributed to urinary tract infections (commoner in women), bladder cancer is diagnosed in 40% of cases in a muscle-invasive stage at the time of initial diagnosis in women <sup>9</sup>.

# 4.2 Etiology

Even though the incidence of urinary bladder cancer remains relatively stable in Germany through the last few years, there are plenty of risk factors that have been related to bladder cancer. Smoking is the most important risk factor, accounting for about 50% of all cases <sup>10</sup>. The aromatic amines and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons within the tobacco smoke are excreted from the kidneys and cause damage to the urothelium leading to the development of bladder cancer. The risk of bladder cancer increases with smoking duration and intensity and is, therefore, measured in packyears <sup>11</sup>. Passive exposure to tobacco smoke also increases the risk of bladder cancer. Interestingly, patients with bladder cancer that continue smoking after diagnosis have an increased risk of regression and progression compared to patients that quit tobacco smoking after the diagnosis of bladder cancer <sup>12</sup>.

Occupational exposure to aromatic amines and hydrocarbons is considered the second most important risk factor, accounting for about 10% of all bladder cancer cases. Occupational exposure affects predominantly workers in the paint, dye, metal, or petroleum industry. However, due to improved occupational health precaution measures in developed industrial settings and work-safety guidelines, the new cases of occupational-related bladder cancer are steadily decreasing <sup>13</sup>. Both schistosomiasis and exposure to pelvic ionizing radiation are also associated with an increased risk of bladder cancer <sup>14,15</sup>.

Furthermore, chemotherapy seems to increase the risk of urinary bladder cancer. This typically includes the cytostatic drug cyclophosphamide. However, concomitant prophylactic administration of MESNA (sodium 2-mercaptoethanesulfonate) neutralizes the responsible toxic metabolite, acrolein, and renders cyclophosphamide harmless to the urothelium <sup>16</sup>. Of note, positive family history may only have little impact on the development of bladder cancer. The higher incidence of bladder cancer reported in first- and second-degree relatives of patients with positive family history seems to be attributed to common exposure to other known risk factors, such as tobacco <sup>17</sup>. Accordingly, dietary habits and environmental factors play only a limited role in the development of bladder cancer. Moreover, the available evidence is inconclusive about the role (positive or negative) of other risk factors such as vitamin D, different types of diet (Western, Mediterranean), and alcohol consumption <sup>18</sup>.

## 4.3 Pathological staging and classification

Pure urothelial carcinoma is by far the most common bladder cancer type accounting for over 90% of all cases <sup>19,20</sup>. Nevertheless, the diagnosis of histological variants of bladder cancer has increased during the last few years. The latter is attributed to the awareness and improved reporting of pathologists, the involvement of genitourinary pathologists, as well as to the recent advances in immunohistochemical techniques <sup>21</sup>. Based on their morphological characteristics, histological variants of bladder cancer are subclassified into urothelial and non-urothelial subtypes <sup>22</sup>. Urothelial variants display urothelial differentiation mixed with specific morphological phenotypes (squamous or glandular differentiation, plasmacytoid, micropapillary, sarcomatoid), whereas non-urothelial variants exhibit independent features (adenocarcinoma, squamous cell carcinoma, or neuroendocrine variants) <sup>23</sup>.

Primary tumors of the urinary bladder that are confined to the mucosa are classified as Ta, while those invading the lamina propria are classified as T1. Intraepithelial, high-grade tumors confined to the mucosa are classified as carcinoma in situ (Tis). Tumors invading the tunica muscularis and the detrusor muscle are classified as T2, while those invading surrounding tissues are classified as T3 (perivesical tissue) and T4 (other structures such as prostate, uterus, pelvic or vaginal wall). Accordingly, the regional lymph node metastases are subclassified based on their number and their positivity <sup>24</sup>. The latest TNM classification proposed by the Union International Contre le Cancer is presented in Table 1.

T - Pr	rimary tur	nour				
ТΧ	Primary tumour cannot be assessed					
Т0	No evi	No evidence of primary tumour				
Та	Non-in	vasive papillary carcinoma				
Tis	Carcin	oma <i>in situ</i> : 'flat tumour'				
T1	Tumou	r invades subepithelial connective tissue				
T2	Tumou	r invades muscle				
	T2a	Tumour invades superficial muscle (inner half)				
	T2b	Tumour invades deep muscle (outer half)				
Т3	Tumou	r invades perivesical tissue				
	T3a	Microscopically				
	T3b	Macroscopically (extravesical mass)				
T4	Tumour invades any of the following: prostate stroma, seminal vesicles, uterus, vagina pelvic wall,					
	abdominal wall					
	T4a	Tumour invades prostate stroma, seminal vesicles, uterus or vagina				
	T4b	Tumour invades pelvic wall or abdominal wall				
N – R	egional ly	mph nodes				
NX	Regior	al lymph nodes cannot be assessed				
N0	No regional lymph node metastasis					
N1	Metast	asis in a single lymph node in the true pelvis (hypogastric, obturator, external iliac, or presacral)				
N2	Metastasis in multiple regional lymph nodes in the true pelvis (hypogastric, obturator, external iliac,					
	or presacral)					
N3	Metast	asis in common iliac lymph node(s)				
M - D	istant me	tastasis				
M0	No dis	tant metastasis				
	M1a	Non-regional lymph nodes				
	M1b	Other distant metastases				

# Table 1: The latest TNM classification proposed in 2017 by the Union International Contre le Cancer (UICC).

In 2004, the WHO published a histological classification system for non-muscle invasive bladder cancers, subclassifying them, based on their differentiation and, in turn, to their prognosis, to papillary urothelial neoplasm of low malignant potential (PUNLMP), low- and high-grade papillary carcinoma <sup>25</sup>. This system provides a different risk stratification compared to the older 1973 WHO classification, which subclassified non-muscle invasive urothelial cancer to G1, G2, and G3 categories <sup>26</sup>. Both the 2004 and the 1973 WHO classifications display similar prognostic values <sup>27</sup>. Importantly, all variant histology tumors are considered G3 high-grade. It should be also noted that there is important interobserver and intraobserver variability among pathologists for the diagnosis of both CIS (agreement in about 75% of cases) and WHO grading (agreement in about 55% of cases) <sup>28</sup>.

#### 4.4 Symptoms

Bladder carcinoma is often characterized by painless macro- or microhematuria. Macrohematuria is associated with a higher stage at diagnosis compared to microhematuria. In patients with confirmed bladder cancer, macrohematuria is observed in about 78% of all cases and microhematuria in 14% of all cases. On the contrary, no erythrocytes in the urine are detected only in 8% of all cases, <sup>29</sup>. Other symptoms of bladder cancer include dysuria and pollakiuria. These symptoms are particularly common in patients with CIS. In advanced stages, urinary bladder carcinoma may become symptomatic with obstruction of the upper urinary tract or urinary retention, with flank pain or B-symptoms (weight loss, fever, or night sweats). In metastatic disease, symptoms from the system with metastases are also common (e.g. musculoskeletal pain, respiratory problems, neurological deficit) <sup>30</sup>.

#### 4.5 Diagnosis

Targeted patient history and physical examination are always important during the assessment of patients with bladder cancer. Ultrasound should be performed as an adjunct to clinical examination as it can detect multiple abnormalities of the upper- and lower urinary tract, including bladder cancer (with low sensitivity) <sup>31</sup>. Nevertheless, outpatient cystoscopy (flexible or rigid) is the basic pillar in the diagnosis of bladder cancer, since it allows the assessment of the urethra, prostate, urinary bladder, and ureteral orifices <sup>32</sup>. Especially in men, the use of a flexible cystoscope is recommended due to the male anatomy, given that it is associated with better patient comfort without compromising effectiveness. During cystoscopy, the urinary bladder is thoroughly examined, the tumor can be localized and measured, urine cytology can be obtained, and the tumor may be also biopsied <sup>33</sup>. The findings of the cystoscopy display low interobserver agreement with a sensitivity of 80% and a specificity of 90% for bladder tumors. Tumors that can be missed include predominantly small papillary carcinomas and CIS <sup>34</sup>.

Computed tomography urography is also implemented for the diagnosis and staging of tumors in the upper and lower urinary tract. Alternatively, in patients with contraindications for computed tomography urography, a multi-parametric magnetic resonance imaging can be performed <sup>35</sup>.

Urine cytology is also an integral part of bladder cancer diagnosis as it displays high sensitivity for high-grade tumors (84%), but low sensitivity for low-grade tumors. Furthermore, its sensitivity for CIS displays wide variability (28–100%) <sup>36</sup>. Cytology can be taken both from the urinary bladder and from the upper urinary tract. Positive voided urinary cytology indicates the presence of urothelial cancer anywhere in the urinary tract, while negative cytology does not exclude it. Cytological interpretation displays also interobserver and intraobserver variability. In an attempt to facilitate its interpretation, the Paris System, which was lastly updated in 2022, defines urinary cytology categories as follows <sup>37</sup>:

- No adequate diagnosis possible
- Negative for urothelial cancer
- Atypical urothelial cells
- Suspicious for high-grade urothelial cancer
- High-grade urothelial cancer

Considering the low sensitivity of urine cytology in low-grade tumors, numerous urinary tests and urinary molecular markers have been developed for the diagnosis and follow-up of urinary bladder cancer <sup>38,39</sup>. Still, none of these tests has yet found its way through the clinical pipeline <sup>40</sup>.

#### 4.6 Management of non-muscle invasive bladder cancer

Bladder cancer is diagnosed in about 75% of the patients in a non-muscle-invasive stage and is managed by TUR-B with or without adjuvant intravesical immunotherapy or chemotherapy based on the patient's characteristics and the stage of the tumor <sup>41–43</sup>. The goals of TUR-B in the non-muscle invasive stage are to establish the diagnosis, to stratify the risk of tumor, and to completely remove all visible lesions <sup>44</sup>.

Patients who are diagnosed with non-muscle-invasive bladder tumors display a 5-year recurrence rate of 31% to 78% and a 5-year progression rate of 0.8% to 45%, depending on tumor and patient characteristics <sup>45</sup>. To facilitate clinical

decision-making, it is recommended to stratify patients with bladder tumors into risk groups based on their risk of progression to muscle-invasive disease <sup>46</sup>. To date, the 2021 EAU NMIBC scoring model is widely used for this purpose. It takes into consideration the grading of the tumor (either WHO 1973 or WHO 2004), the patient's age (under or over 70), the number of tumors (single or multiple), the diameter of the tumor (under or over 3 cm) and the presence of concomitant CIS. Low-risk patients display a 5-year progression rate of 0.6% to 0.9%, moderate-risk patients display a 5-year progression rate of 4% to 5%, high-risk patients display a 5-year progression rate of 4% to 5%, high-risk patients display a 5-year progression rate of 4% to 5%, high-risk patients display a 5-year progression rate of 4% to 5%, high-risk patients display a 5-year progression rate of 4% to 5%, high-risk patients display a 5-year progression rate of 4% to 5%, high-risk patients display a 5-year progression rate of 4% to 5%, high-risk patients display a 5-year progression rate of 4% to 44% <sup>47</sup>.

After complete tumor resection, active surveillance is recommended for low-risk tumors in the long term. Patients with low-risk tumors require cystoscopy at three months. If negative, a subsequent cystoscopy is recommended nine months later, and thereafter, yearly for a total follow-up duration of five years <sup>48</sup>. Patients with intermediate-risk tumors require either one-year full-dose BCG (induction therapy followed by three weekly instillations at three, six, and twelve months) or instillations with chemotherapy (optimal regimen not known) for one year. The final decision should be based on the patient's risk profile, as well as the efficacy and complications of each instillation therapy <sup>49</sup>. Patients with intermediate-risk tumors require an individualized follow-up cystoscopy and cytology scheme (inbetween that for low- and high-risk tumors) <sup>50</sup>.

Patients with high-risk tumors require intravesical full-dose BCG instillations for up to three years (induction therapy followed by three weekly instillations at three, six, twelve, 18, 24, 30, and 36 months) <sup>51</sup>. Early RC can also be discussed <sup>52</sup>. Patients with very high-risk tumors require early RC and those who are unfit or refuse immediate RC should undergo the same BCG regimen as patients with high-risk tumors treated with BCG require cystoscopy with urinary cytology at three months. If negative, a subsequent cystoscopy with cytology is required every three months for two years, and, thereafter, every six months until five years of follow-up and subsequently once a year. In other words, for intermediate- and high-risk tumors, regular lifelong cystoscopy is mandatory, given that recurrences

are also common in the long term. Yearly imaging of the upper tract imaging (with computed tomography urography) is also recommended in these cases <sup>54</sup>.

#### 4.7 Management of muscle-invasive bladder cancer

Bladder cancer is diagnosed in about 25% of the patients in a muscle-invasive stage <sup>55</sup>. RC with neoadjuvant chemotherapy is considered the gold standard for patients with muscle-invasive bladder cancer (without neoadjuvant chemotherapy for those with non-muscle-invasive disease) <sup>56</sup>. Alternatively, in patients with contraindications for surgery, and in those wanting to preserve their urinary bladder, a trimodality therapy (TUR-B, chemotherapy, and radiation therapy) should be considered <sup>57</sup>. It is generally reserved for patients with relatively smaller tumors, no lymphatic metastases, no extensive or multifocal CIS, no hydronephrosis related to the tumor, and good bladder function. In well-selected cases, the long-term survival rates of trimodality bladder-preserving therapy are comparable to those of RC <sup>58</sup>.

In patients with metastatic disease that are fit for platinum, cisplatin-based combination chemotherapy (in most cases gemcitabine/cisplatin) is recommended. In patients who are unfit for cisplatin, but are fit for carboplatin, carboplatin should be used in combination with gemcitabine <sup>59</sup>. In patients unfit for any platinumbased chemotherapy, management with a checkpoint inhibitor should be considered <sup>60</sup>.

# 4.8 Radical cystectomy

Regardless of the type of histology, RC is the treatment of choice in patients with non-metastatic disease. The operation involves the removal of the urinary bladder with lymph node dissection (without in non-muscle invasive disease or multimorbid patients) and an appropriate urinary diversion <sup>61</sup>. Different surgical approaches have been described to remove the urinary bladder and improve the oncological and functional outcomes. Still, to date, no consensus exists in terms of which surgical approach displays better short- and long-term outcomes <sup>62</sup>. In recent years, minimally invasive RC has become an alternative to open RC <sup>63</sup>. Indeed, it seems that laparoscopic and robot-assisted RC have gained popularity by reducing intraoperative blood loss and length of hospital stay (by about one to two days), while offering similar short- and long-term oncological and functional outcomes compared to open RC <sup>64</sup>. Nevertheless, it should be highlighted that it remains unclear whether these favorable properties may translate into an overall benefit for the patients and the healthcare system since minimally invasive RC leads to increased intraoperative costs and longer operative time <sup>65</sup>. Therefore, to date, major guidelines recommend selecting experienced RC centers and not specific techniques <sup>66</sup>.

Irrespective of the surgical technique, RC in men typically includes the concomitant removal of the prostate with the seminal vesicles and the distal part of the ureters. In women, RC typically includes the concomitant removal of the uterus, urethra, adjacent vagina, and the distal part of the ureters <sup>67</sup>. Standard lymphnode dissection is an integral part of RC in patients with muscle-invasive disease. It displays both a diagnostic value in terms of staging and a therapeutic value in terms of tumor excision <sup>68</sup>. Lymphadenectomy typically involves the removal of lymph nodes up to the common iliac bifurcation (including presacral lymph nodes, as well as lymph nodes of the obturator fossa, external and internal iliac vessels) <sup>69</sup>.

Urinary diversion after RC is typically classified into an incontinent or a continent procedure <sup>70</sup>. Among incontinent procedures, ileal conduit is the most commonly preferred urinary diversion due to its well-known results and lower complication rates <sup>71</sup>. For the ileal conduit, an ileal segment, about 15 cm long, is isolated approximately 20 cm proximally to the ileocecal valve <sup>72</sup>. The ureters are spatulated and anastomosed to the proximal end of the ileal segment, while the distal end of the ileal segment is sutured to the abdominal wall through an opening (stoma) <sup>73</sup>. The urinary diversion with ileal conduit is presented in Figure 1.



**Figure 1: Urinary diversion with an ileal conduit.** Reproduced after license acquirement (License Number: 5593750714631, License Date: 21/07/2023, Licensed Content Publisher: Elsevier, Licensed Content Publication: European Urology Supplements, Licensed Content Title: Ileal Conduit as the Standard for Urinary Diversion After Radical Cystectomy for Bladder Cancer, Licensed Content Author: Renzo Colombo, Richard Naspro).

In patients with multiple comorbidities, ureters can be directly implanted into the abdominal wall either through a single or separate opening. This approach is called ureterocutaneostomy and is predominantly reserved for old or multimorbid patients. Due to the direct implantation of the ureters to the skin, stenosis of the anastomosis, and ascending urinary tract infections are more often observed after ureterocutaneostomy compared to urinary diversions using the bowel to create an intestinal stoma <sup>74</sup>. The urinary diversion with ureterocutaneostomy is presented in Figure 2.



**Figure 2: Urinary diversion with a ureterocutaneostomy.** Reproduced after license acquirement (License Number: 5600830834103, License Date: 02/08/2023, Licensed Content Publisher: John Wiley and Sons, Licensed Content Publication: BJU International, Licensed Content Title: Cutaneous ureterostomy, Licensed Content Author: Armin Pycha, Michele Lodde, Lukas Lusuardi).

Among continent procedures, neobladder is most commonly preferred since it offers an orthotopic bladder substitution <sup>75</sup>. An ileal segment, about 70 cm long, is isolated approximately 20 cm proximally to the ileocecal valve. The ileal segment is then typically arranged in a W- or U-shape and its limbs are sutured to one another. The distal part is anastomosed with the urethra and the ureters are implanted into the neobladder at a convenient site. The urinary diversion with orthotopic bladder substitution is presented in Figure 3. Alternatively, cutaneous procedures such as a catheterizing pouch can also be used in well-selected cases <sup>76</sup>. Still, it should be underlined that approximately 25% of all patients undergoing RC are not eligible for a continent urinary diversion <sup>77</sup>.



**Figure 3: Urinary diversion with an orthotopic neobladder.** Reproduced after license acquirement (License Number: 5600830120654, License Date: 02/08/2023, Licensed Content Publisher: John Wiley and Sons, Licensed Content Publication: BJU International, Licensed Content Title: Orthotopic ileal neobladder, Licensed Content Author: H. Danuser, C. Varol, U.E. Studer).

Among the different contraindications for a continent urinary diversion, chronic kidney disease (at least IIIb stage) is considered one of the most important since it can lead to hyperchloremic metabolic acidosis <sup>78</sup>. Urine storage in the bowel mucosa of a continent urinary diversion results in reabsorption of urea, potassium, and chloride, and in excretion of sodium and bicarbonate. In turn, this increased acid load cannot be processed by the kidneys of patients with chronic kidney disease, leading to electrolyte and pH problems <sup>79</sup>. Importantly, apart from gastrointestinal complications and other typical complications encountered also with incontinent urinary diversions, patients receiving a continent urinary

diversion develop frequently lower urinary tract symptoms (incontinence, retention, infections, post-void residual urine, and other voiding problems) <sup>80</sup>. Indeed, major meta-analyses and clinical trials suggest that satisfaction rates and quality of life are similar between continent and incontinent urinary diversions in the longterm <sup>81</sup>.

#### 4.9 **Perioperative outcomes after radical cystectomy**

Currently, open RC remains the standard surgical procedure, even though the adoption of robot-assisted RC has been increasing during the last few years <sup>82</sup>. Despite the recent surgical advancements and improvements in terms of the operation technique and the management of patients, postoperative complications after RC are inevitable <sup>83</sup>. RC is associated with high rates of perioperative morbidity and mortality, prolonged hospital stay, and significant treatment-related costs <sup>84</sup>. It should be highlighted that perioperative complications occur in most patients undergoing RC <sup>85</sup>. Approximately 20% of them are severe or life-threatening, prolong the hospital stay and lead to 8% perioperative mortality.

Evidence deriving from high-volume, high-quality data suggests that the 30-day mortality after RC is about 3% and the 90-day mortality about 8% <sup>86</sup>. In the CORAL study from 2016 (one of the most important three-arm RCTs on the field) that compared open versus laparoscopic versus robotic RC and included 59 patients in total, the authors concluded that about 50% of all patients undergoing RC experience at least one complication and about 20% of all patients undergo-ing RC experience one severe complication in the first 30 days after surgery <sup>87</sup>. It seems that the commonest perioperative complications after RC comprise infections (including sepsis), bleeding (with or without transfusion), acute renal failure, ileus, thromboembolism, and other major cardiopulmonary complications <sup>88</sup>.

A recent high-quality systematic review and meta-analysis including 44 RCTs concluded that complications following RC are quite common <sup>89</sup>. Overall, gastro-intestinal complications affect 19%, infections 17%, cardiovascular complications 9%, genital and urologic complications 7%, and respiratory complications 7% of all patients undergoing RC. The most common complications included

transfusion (36%), ileus (14%), readmission (14%), urinary tract infection (8%), lymphocele (4%), sepsis (4%), acute renal failure (4%), arrhythmia (4%), reoperation (3%) deep vein thrombosis (3%), pulmonary artery embolism (2%) and myocardial infarction (1%). Based on the Clavien-Dindo classification, 14% of all patients undergoing RC suffer from Clavien-Dindo I perioperative complications, 31% from Clavien-Dindo II, 7% from Clavien-Dindo IIIa, 5% from Clavien-Dindo IIIb, 3% from Clavien-Dindo IV, and 2% of all patients undergoing RC die (Clavien-Dindo V) <sup>90</sup>. Nevertheless, the authors could not assess the overall morbidity and mortality of the included patients due to unavailable patient-level data. This could have been possible with the Comprehensive Complication Index (CCI), a tool that enables the calculation of the overall morbidity of each patient based on the Clavien-Dindo classification. The CCI estimates the gravity of the overall complication burden of each patient based on a scale from 0 (no complications) to 100 (death) <sup>91</sup>.

#### 4.10 Caseload volume and radical cystectomy

RC is also associated with high costs and prolonged hospital stay, which may further increase when perioperative complications occur. Previous studies on the field have suggested that, in Germany, approximately 6,000 RCs are performed every year <sup>92</sup>. Accumulating evidence suggests that an increased annual hospital volume, and not an increased surgeon volume, is associated with better perioperative outcomes for major oncological surgeries such as esophagectomy, pancreatectomy, and RC <sup>93</sup>. Large retrospective cohort studies, as well as systematic reviews and meta-analyses, indicate that hospital caseload is a major determinant of perioperative morbidity and mortality after RC <sup>94,95</sup>.

Hospitals with higher caseload volume are associated with better perioperative outcomes in terms of mortality and morbidity <sup>96</sup>. It seems that high-volume hospitals provide the required infrastructure, as well as experienced medical and paramedical personnel that may result in early identification and adequate treatment of postoperative complications <sup>97</sup>. Furthermore, experienced operative teams can lead to a reduction of the operative time, prevention of postoperative complications <sup>98</sup>.

In the first high-quality systematic review and meta-analysis on the field by Goossens-Laan et al. with ten studies and 196,978 patients, the authors suggested, after analyzing administrative data from published studies, that high-volume centers are associated with lower mortality rates (OR: 0.55; 95%CI: 0.44 to 0.69) <sup>95</sup>. Still, the authors pooled low- and high-volume centers based on the threshold used in each study. Nevertheless, each study used a different threshold, and a large variation in the threshold was observed, rendering the interpretation of these findings problematic. Therefore, the authors concluded in 2011 that the available literature was limited, and only a trend for better outcomes in high-volume centers could be observed. Thereafter, multiple studies based on administrative and population data have been published from Australia, Canada, China Europe, Japan, and USA <sup>99</sup>.

The largest study on the field was published in 2013 by Ravi et al. and included 79,859 RCs from the NIS dataset. Patients were divided into three groups based on the annual hospital caseload of the center where they received RC. Low-volume centers were defined as below the lower 20-percentile (1–3 RC/year), high-volume centers as above the upper 20-percentile ( $\geq$ 24 RC/year), and intermediate-volume centers as above the lower 20-percentile and below the upper 20-percentile (4–23 RC/year). After adjusting for age, Charlson Comorbidity Index, race, urinary diversion, gender, insurance status, and annual income, the authors demonstrated in the multivariable analysis that low-volume centers in the USA were associated with 26%, 39%, 17%, and 75% higher odds of intraoperative complications, postoperative complications, blood transfusion, and prolonged hospital stay, respectively, compared to high-volume centers (p < 0.03 for all outcomes).

Accordingly, patients undergoing RC at low-volume centers displayed a 2.2-fold higher odds of in-hospital death compared to patients undergoing RC at high-volume centers (p < 0.001) <sup>100</sup>. Still, it should be noted that the authors did not report on the number and frequency of complications. Similarly, the authors did not perform separate analyzes for each complication. Based on the previous

notion, it should be stressed that the separation of hospitals into low-, intermediate- and high-volume centers was arbitrarily applied based on their distribution of hospitals into quartiles and not based on current guideline recommendations.

Available evidence suggests that hospital volume rather than surgeon volume is the main driver of perioperative outcomes after RC. Mayer et al. reported lower mortality rates in surgeons performing at least eight RC/year. However, after adjusting for patient characteristics and other risk factors, surgeon volume was not associated with lower in-hospital mortality <sup>101</sup>. Importantly, high-volume surgeons in high-volume centers display better perioperative outcomes compared to highvolume surgeons in low-volume centers <sup>102</sup>. Thus, an interdisciplinary approach is mandatory for patients undergoing RC. It seems that, not only the surgeon but also the competence of the whole surgical and anesthesiology team assessing the patients preoperatively and postoperatively, as well as the experience of the nurse and physiotherapy team play a crucial role in the prevention and management of perioperative complications <sup>103</sup>. Additionally, early recovery/fast tract concepts after RC that include immediate enteral feeding, early postoperative patient mobilization, avoidance of medications causing paralytic ileus, and administration of prokinetic agents seem to also reduce postoperative complications <sup>104</sup>. Therefore, the available literature indicates that there is currently an increasing trend toward the centralization of RC to achieve better perioperative and long-term outcomes <sup>105</sup>.

#### 4.11 Gaps in the literature

Given that the hospital volume seems to be the main driver of perioperative outcomes after RC, a plethora of studies has attempted to identify an annual RC hospital caseload threshold that reduces perioperative morbidity and mortality <sup>106,107</sup>. To date, the EAU Muscle Invasive and Metastatic Bladder Cancer Guideline Panel recommends that centers should perform at least 10 RC/year, and preferably more than 20 RC/year, or, otherwise, refer patients requiring RC to hospitals that reach these annual numbers <sup>99</sup>. Still, this recommendation is based on a low level of evidence, considering that it derives from a systematic review that included 39 studies, which recruited a relatively low number of participants and reported conflicting data. More specifically, the EAU Muscle Invasive and Metastatic Bladder Cancer Guideline Panel performed a second systematic review on the same topic in 2019 (after this by Goossens-Laan et al. in 2011) to provide solid recommendations on the matter. Nevertheless, this was not possible since each of the included studies in this systematic review used a different threshold to define the optimal hospital volume for RC. Interestingly, this threshold ranged from 8 to 55 RC/year.

To date, all available systematic reviews have pooled studies with different thresholds in terms of defining low-, intermediate- and high-volume centers. Based on the previous notion, a meta-analysis on the topic could not be performed by the EAU Muscle Invasive and Metastatic Bladder Cancer Guideline Panel <sup>95,99,108</sup>. Accordingly, administrative and retrospective studies on the matter included a relatively small number of participants, classified hospitals arbitrarily into caseload categories, did not adjust outcomes for important risk factors, or did not assess in-depth the major perioperative outcomes <sup>109–111</sup>. That said, it seems that, despite these publications, the optimal annual caseload volume for RC remains unknown <sup>112</sup>.

#### 4.12 Purpose of the present study

Within this framework, this dissertation aimed to assess the German Nationwide Inpatient Data of the DRG dataset (the largest study in the field) in an attempt to evaluate both the recommended threshold proposed by the EAU and to objectively define an annual hospital volume threshold that optimizes perioperative outcomes in patients undergoing RC through sophisticated statistical analyses. This dissertation also aimed to assess in-depth the number and the frequency of complications, the mortality rates, the time-to-inpatient death, the costs of RC in Germany, and the length of hospital stay. Additionally, it evaluated the evolution of RC throughout the years as well as the distribution of hospitals in Germany into low-, moderate- and high-volume centers.

# 5. Material and Methods

#### 5.1 German Nationwide Inpatient Data

All inpatient data from 2005 to 2020 were retrieved from the Federal Bureau of Statistics (Wiesbaden, Hessen, Germany) and were made available for analysis upon an agreement (LMU - 4710-2022) for the purposes of the present dissertation. The GRAND dataset contains all reimbursed inpatient cases in Germany apart from psychiatric, forensic, and military cases. All data are available and stored anonymized at the Federal Bureau of Statistics. After the implementation in 2004 of a diagnosis- and procedure-related remuneration system in Germany (the German Diagnosis Related Groups - G-DRG system), all hospitals are required to code and transfer to the Institute for the Hospital Remuneration System patient data on inpatient diagnoses, coexisting conditions, as well as on perioperative outcomes, and surgical procedures <sup>113</sup>. These data are mandatory for all German hospitals to receive their corresponding remuneration. These diagnoses and perioperative outcomes are coded according to the ICD-10-GM, whereas surgical procedures are coded according to the German OPS. In order to ensure uniform documentation throughout Germany, coding guidelines are provided by the German Institute for Medical Documentation and Information<sup>114</sup>.

#### 5.2 Eligibility criteria and coding

For the purposes of the present dissertation, all patients undergoing RC in Germany from 2005 to 2020 were identified through the OPS code 5-57. Only patients undergoing RC due to urinary bladder cancer were included (ICD code: C67 and D41.4). On the contrary, those patients that underwent concomitant nephroureterectomy (OPS code: 5-563 and 5-554) were excluded. To obtain information for further procedures, coexisting conditions, and complications, the available diagnostic and procedural codes (ICD-10-GM and OPS codes) were used <sup>115</sup>. The procedures, coexisting conditions, and complications based on the corresponding ICD-10-GM and OPS codes are depicted in Table 2.

Diagnosis	ICD-10-GM or OPS Code		
Diabetes mellitus type 2	E10, E11, E13		
Myocardial infarction	121, 122, 124		
Congestive heart failure	1099, 1110, 1130, 1132, 1255, 142 (0, 5 to 9), 143, 150		
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	I278, I279, J4, J6 (0 to 7), J684, J701, J703		
Chronic renal failure	I120, I131, I132, N03, N05, N18, N19		
Thromboembolism	126, 174, 180		
Acute renal failure	N17, N99, O904		
Acute respiratory failure	J960, J969, J80		
Cerebrovascular accident	G45, G46, H340, I6		
Dementia	F0 (0 to 3), F051, G30, G311		
Pneumonia	J1 (2 to 8), J85		
Hypertension	110, 111, 112, 113		
Obesity	Z68 (3 to 4), E66, E65		
Sepsis	A41		
Surgical wound infection	8-19 (1 to 3)		
Transfusion	8-80		
lleus	K56		
VAC placement	8-190		
Ureterocutaneostomy	5-5642, 5-5643, 5-5647		
lleal conduit	5-565		
Neobladder	5-5660, 5-5661, 5-5662, 5-5723, 5-566b, 5- 5663, 5-566c, 5-577 (0 to 2)		
Colostomy placement	5-455		
Robotic radical cystectomy	5-987		
Laparoscopic radical cystectomy	5-57601, 5-57621, 5-57611, 5-57631, 5- 57641, 5-57651, 5-57661, 5-57671, 5-57681, 5-576x1		

Table 2: Procedures, coexisting conditions, and complications assessed in the presentstudy based on the corresponding ICD-10-GM and OPS codes.

#### 5.3 Annual hospital caseload threshold

The primary outcome of the present dissertation was to evaluate multiple thresholds in an attempt to define the optimal annual hospital volume for RC that improves inpatient outcomes. Secondary outcomes included the effect of these thresholds on I) major perioperative complications, II) Treatment-related costs, and III) Length of hospital stay.

For this purpose, Youden's index (also called Youden's J statistic) based on ROC curve analyses was used <sup>116</sup>. The Youden's index is defined as sensitivity + specificity -1 and can take values from -1 to 1 <sup>117</sup>. The Youden's index is used to summarize the performance of a diagnostic test and is calculated for all points of a ROC curve <sup>118</sup>. The maximum value of Youden's index can be used as a criterion for identifying the optimal threshold of a diagnostic test <sup>119</sup>.

In the present analysis, Youden's index was computed for each point of every ROC curve on perioperative outcomes. Its maximum value was selected as a criterion to identify the optimal threshold for annual hospital RC caseload in terms of mortality, important complications (sepsis, transfusion, ileus), length of hospital stay, and hospital revenues. For each diagnostic test (annual hospital caseload threshold that optimizes each outcome), the specificity, sensitivity, as well as the positive and negative predictive values were calculated.

Based on the present analyses, the optimal threshold for annual hospital RC caseload that reduces perioperative mortality was estimated at 54 RC/year, displaying a sensitivity of 58%, a specificity of 48%, a positive predictive value of 50%, and a negative predictive value of 96%. The optimal threshold for annual hospital RC caseload regarding ileus was 50 RC/year with a sensitivity of 99%, a specificity of 21%, a positive predictive value of 10%, and a negative predictive value of 91%. For sepsis, the optimal threshold for annual hospital RC caseload was 44 RC/year and displayed a sensitivity of 35%, a specificity of 68%, a positive predictive value of 91%. Similarly, for transfusion, the optimal threshold for annual hospital RC caseload was also 44

RC/year and displayed a sensitivity of 34%, a specificity of 70%, a positive predictive value of 55%, and a negative predictive value of 49%. Moreover, the optimal threshold for annual hospital RC caseload for reducing the length of hospital stay and the inpatient costs was 71 and 76 RC/year, respectively. The findings of the ROC curve analyses are depicted in Table 3.

Complication	Hospital case- load threshold	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV
Mortality	54	58%	48%	50%	96%
Sepsis	44	35%	68%	62%	95%
Transfusion	44	34%	70%	55%	49%
lleus	50	99%	21%	10%	91%
Hospital stay	71	58%	79%	86%	46%
Costs	76	50%	71%	50%	66%

Table 3: Annual hospital radical cystectomy caseload threshold for major perioperative outcomes, based on the maximum Youden's index from the ROC curve analyses. NPV: negative predictive value, PPV: positive predictive value.

Thus, the optimal threshold that may improve inpatient outcomes in patients undergoing RC was set arbitrarily at 50 cases/year. Subsequently, this threshold was compared with other thresholds in terms of in-hospital morbidity, mortality, length of hospital stay, and treatment-related costs. In particular, both the thresholds proposed by the EAU (<10, 10 to 19,  $\geq$ 20 RC/year) and the threshold of 70 RC/year proposed by the present analyses regarding the length of hospital stay and inpatient costs were used.

#### 5.4 Data synthesis and statistical analysis

All hospitals in Germany that perform RCs were identified through their postal code. Subsequently, they were further subclassified based on their annual case-load to low-volume hospitals (<20 RC/year), intermediate-volume hospitals fulfilling the EAU recommendation (20-49 RC/year), and high-volume hospitals

fulfilling the optimal annual threshold suggested by the present findings ( $\geq$ 50 RC/year). Similarly, based on the current EAU recommendations, another subclassification was also tested defining low-volume hospitals as those hospitals that performed < 10 cases/year, intermediate-volume hospitals as those hospitals that performed 10-19 cases/year, and high-volume hospitals as those hospitals that performed 220 cases/year. Finally, the subclassification of <20 RC/year, 20-70 RC/year, and  $\geq$ 70 RC/year was also tested.

The corresponding comparisons among low-, intermediate- and high-volume centers were undertaken using the chi-squared (categorical variables) and the ANOVA test (continuous variables). For all analyses, two-sided p-values lower than 0.05 were considered statistically significant. All continuous variables were provided as mean ± SD and all categorical variables as frequencies (proportions). A multivariable logistic and linear regression analysis was also undertaken to evaluate the different thresholds on inpatient mortality and morbidity (sepsis, transfusion, and ileus), as well as on the length of hospital stay and hospital revenues. Based on clinical relevance, all models were a priori adjusted for age, sex, obesity, hypertension, diabetes mellitus type 2, heart failure, myocardial infarction, cerebrovascular accidents, history of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, chronic renal failure, as well as perioperative acute renal failure, pneumonia, acute respiratory failure, and placement of VAC. ORs with 95% CIs were estimated for all logistic models. The Kaplan-Meier curves with the log-rank test were also used to evaluate the role of the annual hospital RC caseload on inpatient time-to-death <sup>120</sup>.

The DRG dataset, also known as the GRAND dataset, contains the perioperative outcomes of more than 100,000,000 inpatient cases in Germany. Due to the large volume of data that had to be processed for the present analysis, a big memory computer with a large amount of RAM was mandatory. Therefore, the final analyses were performed in a big memory computer stored in the Research Data Center of the Federal Bureau of Statistics. In order to develop the R codes that were used for the present analysis, the DRG dataset was filtered from the Research Data Center of the Federal Bureau Bureau of Statistics and sample files with 1%

of all patients undergoing RC were provided to our research team. These sample files could be processed on any computer. Subsequently, the R codes for all analyses were developed by our research team and were provided to the Research Data Center of the Federal Bureau of Statistics, which, in turn, used them unchanged to generate the final results on our behalf with the big memory computer (source: Research Data Center of the Federal Bureau of Statistics, DRG Statistics 2005-2020 own calculations). Finally, the final results, in form of tables and figures, were returned to our research team, after control of anonymity and data integrity for final evaluation and further analysis. The whole process of the data for the present dissertation is outlined in Figure 4.

For the purposes of this dissertation, sophisticated R codes were developed. Our research team provided the R codes to the Research Data Center of the Federal Bureau of Statistics, which used them unchanged and performed all analyses with a big memory computer. All analyses were undertaken with the RStudio, update 2022.07.2.



Figure 4: Filtering, sampling, code development, and processing of the DRG dataset.

# 6. Results

#### 6.1 Baseline characteristics

Overall, a total of 95,841 patients were included in the present dissertation. Their mean age was 69 ± 9.8 years. Accordingly, the mean length of hospital stay was  $24 \pm 14$  days, and the in-hospital costs were  $17,580 \pm 13,110$  Euros per patient. A total of 76,190 (79%) patients were men, 8,433 (8.8%) were obese, whereas 53,281 (56%) had hypertension and 18,285 (19%) diabetes. The majority of all patients received urinary diversion with ileal conduit (52,430 patients, 55%), whereas the neobladder reconstruction was preferred in 29,700 (31%) cases. Interestingly, only 4,134 (4,3%) patients were operated with a minimally invasive technique (robot-assisted or laparoscopic). Overall, 1,667 (1.7%) patients received a colostomy intraoperatively. Acute kidney disease was reported perioperatively in 10,496 (11%) cases, acute respiratory failure in 10,771 (11%) cases, pneumonia in 5,273 (5.5%) cases, ileus in 9,622 (10%) cases, and sepsis in 5,429 (5.7%) cases. 50,238 (52%) patients required in-hospital transfusion and 4,691 (4.9%) VAC placement. Based on the optimal threshold proposed by the EAU and by the present analyses (<20, 20 to 49, and ≥50 RC/year), a total of 28,291 (30%) patients received RC in a low-, 49,616 (52%) in an intermediateand 17,934 (19%) in a high-volume hospital. The baseline characteristics of all patients and the comparisons among low-, intermediate-, and high-volume centers are depicted in Table 4.

Characteristic	Overall, n =	<b>&lt;20</b> , n =	<b>20-49</b> , n =	<b>≥50</b> , n =	p-
Characteristic	95,841	28,291	49,616	17,934	value
Males	76,190 (79%)	22,233 (79%)	39,508 (80%)	14,449 (81%)	<0.001
Age (years)	69 ± 9.8	69 ± 9.6	69 ± 9.8	69 ± 10.2	<0.001
Obesity	8,433 (8.8%)	2,578 (9.1%)	4,464 (9%)	1,391 (7.8%)	<0.001
Hypertension	53,281 (56%)	16,056 (57%)	27,583 (56%)	9,642 (54%)	<0.001
Diabetes	18,285 (19%)	5,594 (20%)	9,452 (19%)	3,239 (18%)	<0.001
Dementia	1,306 (1.4%)	417 (1.5%)	702 (1.4%)	187 (1%)	<0.001
Chronic kidney disease	14,863 (16%)	4,796 (17%)	7,963 (16%)	2,104 (12%)	<0.001
Chronic heart failure	7,749 (8.1%)	2,574 (9.1%)	4,097 (8.3%)	1,078 (6%)	<0.001
Chronic cere- brovascular dis- ease	3,182 (3.3%)	934 (3.3%)	1,750 (3.5%)	498 (2.8%)	<0.001
History of myo- cardial infarc- tion	1,242 (1.3%)	365 (1.3%)	669 (1.3%)	208 (1.2%)	0.16
History of thromboembo- lism	4,131 (4.3%)	1,153 (4.1%)	2,023 (4.1%)	955 (5.3%)	<0.001
Chronic ob- structive pul- monary disease	11,186 (12%)	3,389 (12%)	5,939 (12%)	1,858 (10%)	<0.001
Hospital stay (days)	24 ± 14	26 ± 15	24 ± 15	22 ± 13	<0.001
Perioperative costs (Euros)	17,580 ± 13,110	17,778 ± 13,350	17,593 ± 13,527	17,279 ± 11,580	0.003
Characteristic	Overall, n =	<b>&lt;20</b> , n =	<b>20-49</b> , n =	<b>≥50</b> , n =	p-
--------------------------------	--------------	---------------------	--------------------	------------------	--------
Characteristic	95,841	28,291	49,616	17,934	value
Operative tech- nique					<0.001
Open	91,707 (95%)	27,624 (98%)	46,926 (94%)	17,157 (95%)	
Laparoscopic	1,506 (2%)	402 (1%)	963 (2%)	141 (2%)	
Robotic	2,628 (3%)	265 (1%)	1,727 (4%)	636 (4%)	
Ureterocutane- ostomy	10,568 (11%)	3,524 (12%)	5,655 (11%)	1,389 (7.7%)	<0.001
lleal conduit	52,430 (55%)	14,975 (53%)	27,630 (56%)	9,825 (55%)	<0.001
Neobladder re- construction	29,700 (31%)	8,574 (30%)	14,823 (30%)	6,303 (35%)	<0.001
Colostomy	1,667 (1.7%)	478 (1.7%)	902 (1.8%)	287 (1.6%)	0.12
Acute respira- tory failure	10,771 (11%)	3,638 (13%)	5,677 (11%)	1,456 (8.1%)	<0.001
Acute kidney disease	10,496 (11%)	3,094 (11%)	5,543 (11%)	1,859 (10%)	0.012
Inpatient trans- fusion	50,238 (52%)	15,636 (55%)	25,263 (51%)	9,339 (52%)	<0.001
Inpatient pneu- monia	5,273 (5.5%)	1,665 (5.9%)	2,708 (5.5%)	900 (5.0%)	<0.001
Inpatient VAC placement	4,691 (4.9%)	1,489 (5.3%)	2,484 (5.0%)	718 (4.0%)	<0.001
Inpatient sepsis	5,429 (5.7%)	1,760 (6.2%)	2,744 (5.5%)	925 (5.2%)	<0.001
Inpatient ileus	9,622 (10%)	2,997 (11%)	5,020 (10%)	1,605 (8.9%)	<0.001

Table 4: Baseline characteristics of the included patients based on the recommended annual hospital caseload for radical cystectomy (<20, 20 to 49, and ≥50 cases/year). Variables are presented as mean ± standard deviation or frequencies (proportions). The one-way ANOVA test was performed for comparisons among continuous variables and the chi-squared test for categorical variables. The bold cells indicate statistically significant p-values.

#### 6.2 Baseline characteristics and annual hospital caseload

In centers performing less than 20 RC/year, patients were statistically significantly older and presented more often with hypertension, diabetes mellitus type 2, chronic heart failure, and chronic kidney disease compared to centers performing 20 to 49 RC/year or more than 50 RC/year. The latter can be explained by the fact that minimally invasive RC (p < 0.001) and more sophisticated urinary diversions (such as neobladder) (p < 0.001) were more often performed in highvolume centers. Still, it should be stressed that the absolute differences between the three groups were minimal and do not reflect a clinical difference. Patients who underwent RC in high-volume hospitals developed fewer postoperative complications. In particular, complications such as acute kidney disease (p = 0.012), acute respiratory failure (p < 0.001), pneumonia (p < 0.001), and VAC placement (p < 0.001) were less commonly encountered in high-volume centers (Table 4). Of note, both the mortality rates and the annual number of RC performed in Germany did not significantly change throughout the years and were not affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and its lockdown period. The annual trends of RC are presented in Figure 5.



Figure 5: The annual trends for radical cystectomy based on hospital caseload (<20, 20 to 49, and ≥50 cases/year). The line represents the annual inpatient mortality for all patients.

## 6.3 Perioperative outcomes based on caseload volume of <20, 20-49 and ≥50 RC/year

A total of 4,313 (4.5%) in-hospital deaths occurred after RC. Among them, 1,477 (5.2%) patients died in low-, 2,216 (4.5%) in intermediate- and 620 (3.5%) in high-volume hospitals (p < 0.001). In the multivariable analysis after adjusting for major determinants, intermediate and high-volume hospitals were associated with lower in-hospital mortality rates compared to low-volume hospitals (OR: 0.84, 95% CI: 0.78 to 0.91, p < 0.001 and OR: 0.72, 95% CI: 0.64 to 0.8, p < 0.001, respectively). This was also observed in the time-to-death analysis (log-rank test: p < 0.001).

It should be noted that perioperative complications such as ileus, sepsis, and transfusion occurred more often in patients undergoing RC in low-volume centers (p < 0.001). In the multivariable analysis after adjusting for major determinants, intermediate- and high-volume hospitals were associated with lower rates in-hospital sepsis rates compared to low-volume centers (OR: 0.89, 95% CI: 0.84 to 0.96, p < 0.001 and OR: 0.91, 95% CI: 0.83 to 0.99, p = 0.036, respectively). Based on the same analyses, comparing low- to intermediate- and high-volume centers, the in-hospital transfusion rates were only statistically significant for intermediate-volume hospitals (p < 0.001), while the in-hospital ileus rates were only statistically significant for high-volume hospitals (p < 0.001).

Accordingly, low-volume hospitals were associated with longer length of hospital stay and higher inpatient costs (p < 0.001). In the multivariable analysis after adjusting for major determinants, the length of hospital stay was shorter by 2.7 (95% CI: 2.4 to 2.9, p < 0.001) days and the in-hospital costs were lower by 457 (95% CI: 207 to 707, p < 0.001) Euros in patients receiving RC in high-volume hospitals compared to low-volume hospitals. Of note, patients undergoing RC in intermediate-volume hospitals displayed only significantly shorter length of hospital stay by 1.1 (95% CI: 0.9 to 1.3, p<0.001) days compared to low-volume hospitals. All multivariable analyses are available in Table 5.

Annual cystec- tomy caseload	Mortality		Sepsis		Transfusion		lleus		Length of hospi- tal stay		Costs	
	OR	p-value	OR	p-value	OR	p-value	OR	p-value	Beta	p-value	Beta	p-value
< 20	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	—	—
20-49	0.84 (0.78, 0.91)	<0.001	0.89 (0.84 , 0.96)	<0.001	0.84 (0.82 , 0.87)	<0.001	0.96 (0.91, 1.01)	0.088	-1.1 (- 1.3, - 0.92)	<0.001	184 (-16, 383)	0.071
≥ 50	0.72 (0.64, 0.8)	<0.001	0.91 (0.83 , 0.99)	0.036	0.97 (0.93 , 1.01)	0.09	0.87 (0.81, 0.93)	<0.001	-2.7 (- 2.9, - 2.4)	<0.001	457 (207 , 707)	<0.001

Table 5: Multivariable logistic and linear regression analysis for the effect of annual hospital cystectomy caseload on perioperative mortality, sepsis, transfusion, ileus, length of hospital stay, and costs based on the recommended from the EAU annual hospital caseload and on the optimal annual hospital caseload proposed by the present analyses (<20, 20 to 49 and  $\geq$ 50 cases/year). All models are adjusted for sex, age, obesity, history of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, heart failure, chronic renal failure, cerebrovascular accident, hypertension, diabetes, as well as perioperative acute renal failure, acute respiratory failure, pneumonia, myocardial infarction, surgical wound infection, and VAC placement. The bold cells indicate statistically significant p-values. OR: odds ratio.

### 6.4 Perioperative outcomes based on caseload volume of <50 and ≥50 RC/year



Most hospitals in Germany perform less than 50 RC per year (Figure 6).



In the multivariable logistic and linear regression analysis comparing centers performing more than 50 cases/year versus fewer than 50 cases/year and after adjusting for major determinants, the optimal annual RC hospital caseload proposed by the present analyses ( $\geq$ 50 RC/year) was associated with lower mortality rates (p < 0.001) and ileus (p < 0.001), as well as with shorter length of hospital stay (p < 0.001) and in-hospital costs (p = 0.002). Based on the latter, patients receiving RC in high-volume hospitals presented a 20% decrease in mortality, and an 11% decrease in ileus complications, and also stayed 2 days shorter in the hospital. All analyses are available in Table 6.

Annual cystec-	Morta	Mortality		Sepsis		Transfusion		lleus		Length of hospi- tal stay		Costs	
tomy case- load	OR	p-value	OR	p-value	OR	p-value	OR	p-value	Beta	p-value	Beta	p-value	
< 50	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	
≥ 50	0.8 (0.72, 0.88)	<0.001	0.98 (0.9, 1.06)	0.5	1.08 (1.04 , 1.12)	<0.001	0.89 (0.84 , 0.95)	<0.001	-2 (- 2.2, - 1.8)	<0.001	335 (124, 546)	0.002	

Table 6: Multivariable logistic and linear regression analysis for the effect of annual hospital cystectomy caseload on perioperative mortality, sepsis, transfusion, ileus, length of hospital stay, and costs based on the optimal annual hospital caseload proposed by the present analyses (<50 and  $\geq$ 50 cases/year). All models are adjusted for sex, age, obesity, history of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, heart failure, chronic renal failure, cerebrovascular accident, hypertension, diabetes, as well as perioperative acute renal failure, acute respiratory failure, pneumonia, myocardial infarction, surgical wound infection, and VAC placement. The bold cells indicate statistically significant p-values. OR: odds ratio.

## 6.5 Perioperative outcomes based on caseload volume of <10, 10 to 19 and ≥20 RC/year

Based on this subclassification deriving from the recommendations by the EAU, 6,312 (6.6%) patients were operated in low- (<10 RC/year), 21,979 (23%) in intermediate- (10 to 19 RC/year), and 67,550 (70.4%) in high-volume (≥20 RC/year) centers. Patients who were operated in low-volume centers displayed fewer preoperative comorbidities even though the absolute differences between the three groups were minimal and may not reflect a clinical difference. In particular, the patient's age (p = 0.003) and the proportion of patients with hypertension (p < 0.001), diabetes (p = 0.001), chronic kidney disease (p < 0.001), and chronic heart failure (p < 0.001) were lower in low-volume centers. Nevertheless, their hospital stay was longer (p < 0.001) and was associated with more perioperative costs (p = 0.037) compared to high-volume centers. On the contrary, minimally invasive techniques (p < 0.001) and more complex urinary diversions such as neobladder (p < 0.001) were more common in high-volume centers. Furthermore, patients who were operated in high-volume centers displayed, in most cases, fewer postoperative complications. More specifically, the proportion of patients with acute respiratory failure (p < 0.001), pneumonia (p = 0.003), and VAC placement (p = 0.002) were lower in high-volume centers (Table 7). A total of 338 (5.4%) deaths occurred in low-, 1,139 (5.2%) in intermediate- and 2,836 (4.2%) in high-volume centers (p < 0.001) (Figure 7).

Characteristic	<10, n = 6,312 10-19, n = 21,979		<b>≥20</b> , n = 67,550	p-value
Males	4,952 (78%)	17,281 (79%)	53,957 (80%)	<0.001
Age (years)	70 ± 9.4	69 ± 9.7	69 ± 9.9	0.003
Obesity	595 (9.4%)	1,983 (9%)	5,855 (8.7%)	0.052
Hypertension	3,643 (58%)	12,413 (56%)	37,225 (55%)	<0.001
Diabetes	1,267 (20%)	4,327 (20%)	12,691 (19%)	0.001
Dementia	105 (1.7%)	312 (1.4%)	889 (1.3%)	0.053

Characteristic	<b>&lt;10</b> , n = 6,312	<b>10-19</b> , n = 21,979	<b>≥20</b> , n = 67,550	p-value
Chronic kidney dis- ease	1,185 (19%)	3,611 (16%)	10,067 (15%)	<0.001
Chronic heart fail- ure	618 (9.8%)	1,956 (8.9%)	5,175 (7.7%)	<0.001
Chronic cerebro- vascular disease	208 (3.3%)	726 (3.3%)	2,248 (3.3%)	0.98
History of myocar- dial infarction	79 (1.3%)	286 (1.3%)	877 (1.3%)	0.95
History of thrombo- embolism	107 (1.7%)	447 (2.0%)	1,453 (2.2%)	0.042
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	754 (12%)	2,635 (12%)	7,797 (12%)	0.16
Hospital stay (days)	26 ± 15	26 ± 15	24 ± 14	<0.001
Perioperative costs (Euros)	17,626 ± 12,708	17,822 ± 13,530	17,506 ± 13,019	0.037
Operative tech- nique				<0.001
Laparoscopic	75 (1.2%)	327 (1.5%)	1,104 (1.6%)	
Open	6,196 (98%)	21,428 (97%)	64,083 (95%)	
Robotic	41 (0.6%)	224 (1%)	2,363 (3.5%)	
Ureterocutane- ostomy	841 (13%)	2,683 (12%)	7,044 (10%)	<0.001
lleal conduit	3,366 (53%)	11,609 (53%)	37,455 (55%)	<0.001
Neobladder recon- struction	1,763 (28%)	6,811 (31%)	21,126 (31%)	<0.001
Colostomy	106 (1.7%)	372 (1.7%)	1,189 (1.8%)	0.75

Characteristic	<b>&lt;10</b> , n = 6,312	<b>10-19</b> , n = 21,979	<b>≥20</b> , n = 67,550	p-value
Acute respiratory failure	796 (13%)	2,842 (13%)	7,133 (11%)	<0.001
Acute kidney dis- ease	729 (12%)	2,365 (11%)	7,402 (11%)	0.21
Inpatient transfu- sion	3,634 (58%)	12,002 (55%)	34,602 (51%)	<0.001
Inpatient pneumo- nia	379 (6%)	1,286 (5.9%)	3,608 (5.3%)	0.003
Inpatient VAC placement	324 (5.1%)	1,165 (5.3%)	3,202 (4.7%)	0.002
Inpatient sepsis	378 (6%)	1,382 (6.3%)	3,669 (5.4%)	<0.001
Inpatient ileus	754 (12%)	2,243 (10%)	6,625 (9.8%)	<0.001

Table 7: Baseline characteristics of the included patients based on the recommended by the EAU annual hospital caseload for radical cystectomy (<10, 10 to 19, and  $\geq$ 20 RC/year). Variables are presented as mean ± standard deviation or frequencies with proportions. The one-way ANOVA test was performed for comparisons among continuous variables and the chi-squared test for categorical variables. The bold cells indicate statistically significant p-values.



Figure 7: The annual trends for radical cystectomy based on hospital caseload (<10, 10 to 19, and  $\geq$ 20 RC/year). The line represents the annual in-hospital mortality for all patients.

In the multivariable analysis after adjusting for major determinants, high-volume centers were associated with a lower inpatient mortality rate compared to low-volume centers (OR: 0.8, 95% CI: 0.71 to 0.92, p < 0.001). The latter was also observed in the time-to-death analysis (log-rank test: p = 0.034, Figure 8).



Figure 8: Kaplan-Maier curve for inpatient mortality based on the recommended by the EAU annual hospital caseload for radical cystectomy (<10, 10 to 19, and  $\geq$ 20 RC/year).

Based on this subclassification proposed by the EAU, sepsis, ileus, and transfusion were less common in high-volume centers (p < 0.001). In the multivariable analysis after adjusting for major determinants, intermediate- and high-volume centers were associated with lower rates of transfusion (OR: 0.9, 95% CI: 0.85 to 0.95, p < 0.001 and OR: 0.81, 95% CI: 0.76 to 0.85, p < 0.001, respectively) and ileus (OR: 0.83, 95% CI: 0.76 to 0.91, p < 0.001 and OR: 0.81, 95% CI: 0.75 to 0.88, p < 0.001, respectively) compared to low-volume centers. Nevertheless, the rates of sepsis were similar among low-, intermediate (p = 0.2), and high-volume centers (p = 0.4).

Patients undergoing RC in high-volume centers presented shorter length of hospital stay and lower perioperative costs compared to low-volume centers. After adjusting for major baseline and perioperative risk factors, the length of hospital stay was shorter by 1.6 (95% CI: 1.3 to 1.9, p < 0.001) days and the perioperative costs were lower by 369 (95% CI: 13 to 725, p = 0.042) Euros in patients undergoing RC in high-volume centers compared to low-volume centers. All multivariable analyses are available in Table 8.

Annual cystec-	Mortality		Sepsis		Transfusion		lleus		Length of hospital stay		Costs	
tomy case- load	OR	p-value	OR	p-value	OR	p-value	OR	p-value	Beta	p-value	Beta	p-value
< 10	_	_	—	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
10-19	0.99 (0.86, 1.14)	0.9	1.08 (0.95, 1.23)	0.2	0.9 (0.85, 0.95)	<0.001	0.83 (0.76, 0.91)	<0.001	-0.08 (- 0.43, 0.26)	0.6	143 (- 245, 531)	0.5
≥ 20	0.80 (0.71, 0.92)	<0.001	0.95 (0.85, 1.07)	0.4	0.81 (0.76, 0.85)	<0.001	0.81 (0.75, 0.88)	<0.001	-1.6 (-1.9, -1.3)	<0.001	369 (13, 725)	0.042

Table 8: Multivariable logistic and linear regression analysis for the effect of annual hospital cystectomy caseload (<10, 10 to 19, and  $\geq$ 20 RC/year) on perioperative mortality, sepsis, transfusion, ileus, length of hospital stay, and costs. All models are adjusted for sex, age, obesity, history of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, heart failure, chronic renal failure, cerebrovascular accident, hypertension, diabetes, as well as perioperative acute renal failure, acute respiratory failure, pneumonia, myocardial infarction, surgical wound infection, and VAC placement. The bold cells indicate statistically significant p-values. OR: odds ratio.

## 6.6 Perioperative outcomes based on caseload volume of <20, 20 to 69 and ≥70 RC/year

Based on this subclassification, 28,291 (29.5%) patients were operated in low- (< 20 RC/year), 60,695 (63.3%) in intermediate- (20 to 69 RC/year), and 6,855 (7.2%) in high-volume ( $\geq$  70 RC/year) centers. As demonstrated in the previous analyses, patients undergoing RC in centers performing less than 20 cases/year were older and presented with more preoperative comorbidities compared to centers performing 20 to 69 cases/year and more than 70 cases/year. The latter can be explained because minimally invasive RC (p < 0.001) and more sophisticated urinary diversions (such as neobladder) (p < 0.001) were more often performed in intermediate- and high-volume centers. Still, it should be stressed that the absolute differences between the three groups were minimal and do not reflect a clinical difference. Patients who underwent RC in high-volume hospitals developed fewer postoperative complications. In particular, all evaluated complications: acute kidney disease (p = 0.009), acute respiratory failure (p < 0.001), pneumonia (p = 0.001), and VAC placement (p < 0.001) were less commonly encountered in high-volume centers (Table 9). A total of 1,477 (5.2%) deaths occurred in low-, 2,644 (4.4%) in intermediate- and 192 (2.8%) in high-volume centers (p < 0.001) (Figure 9).

Characteristic	< <b>20</b> , n = 28,291	<b>20-69</b> , n = 60,695	<b>≥70</b> , n = 6,855	p-value
Males	22,233 (79%)	48,379 (80%)	5,578 (81%)	
Age (years)	69.2 ± 9.6	69.3 ± 9.9	68.3 ± 10.2	<0.001
Obesity	2,578 (9.1%)	5,360 (8.8%)	495 (7.2%)	<0.001
Hypertension	16,056 (57%)	33,554 (55%)	3,671 (54%)	<0.001
Diabetes	5,594 (20%)	11,511 (19%)	1,180 (17%)	<0.001
Dementia	417 (1.5%)	835 (1.4%)	54 (0.8%)	<0.001
Chronic kidney dis- ease	4,796 (17%)	9,377 (15%)	690 (10%)	<0.001

Characteristic	<b>&lt;20</b> , n = 28,291	<b>20-69</b> , n = 60,695	<b>≥70</b> , n = 6,855	p-value
Chronic heart fail- ure	2,574 (9.1%)	4,803 (7.9%)	372 (5.4%)	<0.001
Chronic cerebro- vascular disease	934 (3.3%)	2,085 (3.4%)	163 (2.4%)	<0.001
History of myocar- dial infarction	365 (1.3%)	800 (1.3%)	77 (1.1%)	0.40
History of thrombo- embolism	1,153 (4.1%)	2,552 (4.2%)	426 (6.2%)	<0.001
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	3,389 (12%)	7,131 (12%)	666 (9.7%)	<0.001
Hospital stay (days)	25.5 ± 15.0	23.9 ± 14.3	21.5 ± 11.6	<0.001
Perioperative costs (Euros)	17,778.1 ± 13,350.0	17,540.0 ± 13,363.6	17,227.2 ± 9,751.4	0.013
Operative tech- nique				<0.001
Laparoscopic	402 (1.4%)	1,078 (1.8%)	26 (0.4%)	
Open	27,624 (98%)	57,378 (95%)	6,705 (98%)	
Robotic	265 (0.9%)	2,239 (3.7%)	124 (1.8%)	
Ureterocutane- ostomy	3,524 (12%)	6,696 (11%)	348 (5.1%)	<0.001
lleal conduit	14,975 (53%)	33,723 (56%)	3,732 (54%)	<0.001
Neobladder recon- struction	8,574 (30%)	18,434 (30%)	2,692 (39%)	<0.001
Colostomy	478 (1.7%)	1,085 (1.8%)	104 (1.5%)	0.20
Acute respiratory failure	3,638 (13%)	6,650 (11%)	483 (7.0%)	<0.001

Characteristic	<b>&lt;20</b> , n = 28,291	<b>20-69</b> , n = 60,695	<b>≥70</b> , n = 6,855	p-value
Acute kidney dis- ease	3,094 (11%)	6,726 (11%)	676 (9.9%)	0.009
Inpatient transfu- sion	15,636 (55%)	31,292 (52%)	3,310 (48%)	<0.001
Inpatient pneumo- nia	1,665 (5.9%)	3,266 (5.4%)	342 (5.0%)	0.001
Inpatient VAC placement	1,489 (5.3%)	2,938 (4.8%)	264 (3.9%)	<0.001
Inpatient sepsis	1,760 (6.2%)	3,384 (5.6%)	285 (4.2%)	<0.001
Inpatient ileus	2,997 (11%)	6,069 (10.0%)	556 (8.1%)	<0.001

Table 9: Baseline characteristics of the included patients based on the recommended by the EAU annual hospital caseload for radical cystectomy (<20, 20 to 69, and  $\geq$ 70 RC/year). Variables are presented as mean ± standard deviation or frequencies with proportions. The one-way ANOVA test was performed for comparisons among continuous variables and the chi-squared test for categorical variables. The bold cells indicate statistically significant p-values.



Figure 9: The annual trends for radical cystectomy based on hospital caseload (<20, 20 to 69, and  $\geq$ 70 RC/year). The line represents the annual in-hospital mortality for all patients.

In the multivariable analysis after adjusting for major determinants, intermediate and high-volume hospitals were associated with lower in-hospital mortality rates compared to low-volume hospitals (OR: 0.83, 95% CI: 0.77 to 0.9, p < 0.001 and OR: 0.59, 95% CI: 0.5 to 0.69, p < 0.001, respectively). The latter was also observed in the time-to-death analysis (log-rank test: p < 0.001, Figure 10).



Figure 10: Kaplan-Maier curve for inpatient mortality based on the recommended by the EAU annual hospital caseload for radical cystectomy (<20, 20 to 69, and  $\geq$ 70 RC/year).

Based on this subclassification, sepsis, ileus, and transfusion were less common in intermediate- and high-volume centers (p < 0.001). In the multivariable analysis after adjusting for major determinants, intermediate- and high-volume centers were associated with lower rates of transfusion (OR: 0.88, 95% CI: 0.85 to 0.9, p < 0.001 and OR: 0.85, 95% CI: 0.8 to 0.9, p < 0.001, respectively), ileus (OR: 0.95, 95% CI: 0.91 to 1, p = 0.04 and OR: 0.79, 95% CI: 0.71 to 0.87, p < 0.001, respectively) and sepsis (OR: 0.92, 95% CI: 0.86 to 0.98, p = 0.007 and OR: 0.73, 95% CI: 0.63 to 0.83, p < 0.001, respectively) compared to low-volume centers.

Patients undergoing RC in intermediate- and high-volume centers presented shorter length of hospital stay and lower perioperative costs. After adjusting for major determinants, the length of hospital stay in intermediate- and high-volume centers was shorter by 1.3 (95% CI: 1.2 to 1.5, p < 0.001) and by 3.2 (95% CI: 2.9 to 3.5, p < 0.001) days compared to low-volume centers. Accordingly, the perioperative costs were lower by 220 (95% CI: 27 to 413, p = 0.026) and by 576 (95% CI: 234 to 918, p < 0.001) Euros in patients undergoing RC in intermediate- and high-volume centers compared to low-volume centers. All multivariable analyses are available in Table 10.

Annual cystec- tomy case- load	Mortality		Sepsis		Transfusion		lleus		Length of hospi- tal stay		Costs	
	OR	p-value	OR	p-value	OR	p-value	OR	p-value	Beta	p-value	Beta	p-value
< 20	_	_		_			_		_			—
20-69	0.83 (0.77, 0.9)	<0.001	0.92 (0.86, 0.98)	0.007	0.88 (0.85, 0.9)	<0.001	0.95 (0.91, 1)	0.04	-1.3 (- 1.5, -1.2)	<0.001	220 (27, 413)	0.026
≥ 70	0.59 (0.5, 0.69)	<0.001	0.73 (0.63, 0.83)	<0.001	0.85 (0.8, 0.9)	<0.001	0.79 (0.71, 0.87)	<0.001	-3.2 (- 3.5, -2.9)	<0.001	576 (234, 918)	<0.001

Table 10: Multivariable logistic and linear regression analysis for the effect of annual hospital cystectomy caseload (<20, 20 to 69, and  $\geq$ 70 RC/year) on perioperative mortality, sepsis, transfusion, ileus, length of hospital stay, and costs. All models are adjusted for sex, age, obesity, history of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, heart failure, chronic renal failure, cerebrovascular accident, hypertension, diabetes, as well as perioperative acute renal failure, acute respiratory failure, pneumonia, myocardial infarction, surgical wound infection, and VAC placement. The bold cells indicate statistically significant p-values. OR: odds ratio

### 7. Discussion

#### 7.1 Results Interpretation

The present dissertation, which is based on high-volume, real-world data, indicates that the cutoff of 50 RC/year should be considered a major determinant for perioperative mortality and morbidity. Similarly, this cutoff seems to shorten the length of hospital stay and reduce treatment-related costs. Taking into consideration that multiple analyses with large-scale and high-quality data were performed, this dissertation suggests that setting the RC caseload cutoff to 50 cases/year (and not to 20 cases/year as proposed by the EAU) could improve important inpatient outcomes. Importantly, increasing the RC caseload cutoff above 50 cases/year to 70 cases/year was still associated with a statistically significant improvement in important perioperative outcomes. Nevertheless, it should be noted that it might be extremely difficult for most centers worldwide to achieve more than 70 RC/year <sup>121</sup>.

#### 7.2 Mortality after radical cystectomy

It should be highlighted that the nationwide data from Germany between 2005 and 2020, indicate that most centers performing RC achieve the minimum requirement of 20 cases/year. Nevertheless, only 19% of all patients were operated in centers performing more than 50 RC/year and only 7.2% in centers performing more than 70 RC/year. After adjusting for major determinants in terms of complications, RC in hospitals performing more than 50 cases/year was significantly associated with a 28% reduction in mortality compared to centers performing fewer than 20 cases/year, while RC in centers with 20-49 cases/year was associated with a 16% reduction in mortality compared to centers performing fewer than 20 cases/year. Similarly, RC in hospitals performing more than 70 cases/year was significantly associated with a 41% reduction in mortality compared to centers performing fewer than 20 cases/year was associated with a 16% reduction in the atter showcases that a further increase in annual hospital caseload might further improve mortality. Moreover, no statistically significant differences in terms of mortality were detected between centers performing less than 10 RC/year and 10-19 RC/year. Importantly, the time-to-death analysis showed better outcomes in patients undergoing RC in high-volume centers.

Based on the present real-world data from Germany, a total of 4.5% in-hospital deaths occurred after RC from 2005 to 2020 and a 4.4% 100-day mortality was observed. This proportion is higher than the 2% mortality rate estimated by Katsimperis et al. in a recent meta-analysis pooling data from 44 RCTs with 4,919 patients<sup>89</sup>. Still, it should be noted that, in most of the included RCTs, RCs were performed in high-volume or excellence centers by high-volume surgeons. Similarly, it seems that in high-volume centers, minimally-invasive RC displays a  $\leq$ 3% mortality for all types of urinary diversion <sup>122</sup>. On the contrary, populationbased cohort studies and administrative data from the USA suggest that the perioperative mortality after RC is about 2% at 30 days and 3.4% to 8% at 90 days, which is comparable to the mortality rates reported in this study <sup>123</sup>. Accordingly, data from the Netherlands suggest a 30-day mortality of 1.9% and a 90-day mortality of 6% <sup>124</sup>. Recent data from England show an improvement in perioperative outcomes and a decrease in perioperative mortality over the last year. In particular, the 30-day mortality decreased from 5.2% to 2.1% from 1998 to 2010, whereas the 90-day mortality decreased from 10.3% to 5.1% <sup>125</sup>.

#### 7.3 Morbidity after radical cystectomy

Patients undergoing RC in centers that performed fewer than 20 RC/year developed more inpatient complications. In particular, after adjusting for major determinants, RC in hospitals performing more than 50 cases/year was significantly associated with a 9% reduction in sepsis rates and a 13% reduction in ileus rates compared to centers performing fewer than 20 cases/year, while RC in centers with 20-49 cases/year was associated with an 11% reduction in sepsis rates and a 16% reduction in transfusions compared to centers performing fewer than 20 cases/year. Similarly, RC in hospitals performing more than 70 cases/year was significantly associated with a 27% reduction in sepsis rates, a 15% reduction in transfusions, and a 21% reduction in ileus rates compared to centers performing fewer than 20 cases/year, while RC in centers with 20-69 cases/year was associated with an 8% reduction in sepsis rates, a 12% reduction in transfusions and a 5% reduction in ileus rates compared to centers performing fewer than 20 cases/year. These findings showcase that a further increase in annual hospital caseload might further improve not only mortality but also morbidity. Moreover, RC in hospitals performing 10 to 19 cases/year was significantly associated with a 10% reduction in transfusions and an 18% reduction in ileus rates compared to centers performing at least 20 RC/year displayed better perioperative outcomes in terms of mortality and morbidity, indicating that hospitals that perform less than 10 RC/year should try to refer patients to other centers and that a minimum of 20 RC per year and hospital should be implemented. Importantly, perioperative mortality and morbidity and morbidity in Germany compared to other countries with similar healthcare systems <sup>126</sup>.

Based on the present real-world data from Germany, a total of 10% cases of postoperative of ileus occurred. Paralytic ileus is a mild postoperative complication that can be avoided by enteral feeding, patient mobilization, avoidance of opiates, and use of prokinetic agents. It is typically managed conservatively with nasogastric intubation and parenteral nutrition <sup>127</sup>. On the contrary, obstructive ileus needs surgical exploration. The incidence of postoperative paralytic ileus ranges from 2% to 24%, with potential patient risk factors including increased age and BMI. Interestingly, gum chewing, omission of a nasogastric tube, and avoid-ance of bowel preparation reduce the incidence of paralytic ileus <sup>128</sup>. Data from the RAVOR RCT with 350 participants indicate that minimally invasive and open RC seem to display similar rates of postoperative ileus (22% versus 20%, respectively) <sup>129</sup>.

In Germany, 52% of all patients undergoing RC required perioperative transfusion. Cohort studies suggest that approximately 16% to 73% of all patients undergoing RC may need allogenic perioperative blood transfusion <sup>130</sup>. Populationbased studies from Canada suggest that, although transfusion rates are decreasing during the last few years, still, about 60% of all patients undergoing RC require perioperative blood transfusion <sup>131</sup>. High-quality data published from the Department of Urology of the LMU Hospital demonstrate that intraoperative blood transfusion during RC was necessary in 36% of cases, while postoperative blood transfusion in 18% <sup>132</sup>. It also seems that blood transfusion increases overall and cancer-specific mortality, as well as cancer recurrence <sup>133</sup>. The latter might be attributed to the immunosuppressive effect of perioperative blood transfusion. It seems that surgical manipulations during RC may cause hematogenic tumor cell circulation, which in the case of perioperative immunosuppression through blood transfusion might facilitate the seeding of circulating tumor cells <sup>134</sup>.

In Germany, 5.7% of all patients undergoing RC developed sepsis. Sepsis is a life-threatening complication requiring intensive care management and broad-spectrum antibiotic administration. Postoperative sepsis increases mortality, prolongs the length of hospital stay, and is associated with additional perioperative costs <sup>135</sup>. Nationwide data from England suggest that the rate of 90-day sepsis after RC is about 10% and that it has further increased during the last years <sup>136</sup>. Furthermore, data from the USA suggest that sepsis occurs in about 8% of all patients and its occurrence is independent of age <sup>137</sup>. Importantly, a higher risk of urinary tract infections and septicemia are reported among patients who receive a continent urinary diversion compared to those who receive ileal conduit <sup>138</sup>.

In the present study, 11% of all patients undergoing RC developed acute kidney disease. Acute kidney disease is associated with significant perioperative morbidity and mortality and may lead to severe chronic kidney disease in the long-term <sup>139</sup>. The perioperative incidence of acute kidney disease after RC ranges from 4 to 35% <sup>140,141</sup>. Overall, 4.9% of all patients required perioperative VAC placement either as a preventive or as a therapeutic measure. It seems that negative pressure wound therapy decreases surgical infections and aids in faster recovery after RC <sup>142</sup>. Moreover, 11% of all patients developed acute respiratory failure and 5.5% pneumonia. The latter is in line with studies assessing the

prevalence of complications after RC, which suggest that respiratory complications occur in 7% of all patients undergoing RC <sup>143,144</sup>.

# 7.4 Length of hospital stay and hospital revenues after radical cystectomy

After undergoing RC, patients in Germany remain in the hospital for about 24 days and their perioperative costs exceed 15000 Euros. Both length of hospital stay and hospital revenues seem to improve when patients are operated in highvolume centers. More specifically, after adjusting for major determinants, RC in hospitals performing more than 50 cases/year was associated with a statistically significant reduction of 2.7 days in the length of hospital stay and a reduction of 457 euros in costs compared to centers performing fewer than 20 cases/year, while RC in centers with 20-49 cases/year was associated only with a statistically significant reduction of 1.1 days in the length of hospital stay compared to centers performing fewer than 20 cases/year. Similarly, RC in hospitals performing more than 70 cases/year was associated with a statistically significant reduction of 3.2 days in the length of hospital stay and a reduction of 576 euros in costs compared to centers performing fewer than 20 cases/year, while RC in centers with 20-69 cases/year was associated with a statistically significant reduction of 1.3 days in the length of hospital stay and a reduction of 220 euros in costs compared to centers performing fewer than 20 cases/year. Moreover, no statistically significant differences in terms of length of hospital stay and costs were detected between centers performing less than 10 RC/year and 10-19 RC/year.

The mean length of hospital stay in Germany for RC was 24 days, but it seems to be affected by the outliers who stayed multiple days in hospital. Nevertheless, the mean hospital stay is, indeed, longer than that in the USA which is about 10 days <sup>145</sup>. In England, the median length of hospital stay is about 11 days, whereas in the Netherlands 14 days <sup>146,147</sup>. Importantly, minimally-invasive RC seems to reduce the length of hospital stay by about one to two days <sup>148</sup>. Prolonged hospital stay is associated with further complications, subsequent utilization of healthcare resources, and increased costs of care <sup>149</sup>. Risk factors that prolong hospital stay

after RC are patient comorbidities, advanced tumor stage, prior neoadjuvant chemotherapy, and RC at lower-volume hospitals <sup>150</sup>.

The mean hospital revenues in Germany for RC are 17,580 Euros. This sum is comparable to other countries worldwide. Minimally invasive RC seems to cost about 1,000 to 2,000 Euros more compared to open RC <sup>151</sup>. Moreover, the overall costs of RC with ileal conduit are about 1,000 less than RC with orthotopic urinary diversion <sup>152</sup>. In a multi-institutional, multinational study across Europe, the mean cost of robot-assisted RC was estimated to be 14,773 Euros <sup>153</sup>. The cost of RC in the USA varies between 13,000 and 31,000 Euros in different studies in the literature and is higher in patients undergoing minimally-invasive RC <sup>154–156</sup>. In England, the cost of open RC is about 12,500 Euros, whereas the cost of robot-assisted RC is about 15,000 Euros <sup>157</sup>. The costs of RC in other countries such as China and the Netherlands are similar to those in Germany <sup>158,159</sup>. It seems that the most effective way to decrease perioperative costs after RC is to decrease the number and the severity of postoperative complications, to reduce the operating time, and to increase the number of cases performed by each hospital <sup>160</sup>.

#### 7.5 Available evidence for hospital caseload

The present dissertation supports the adoption of a minimum RC hospital caseload threshold. Even though the Guideline Panel of the EAU on Muscle-invasive Bladder Cancer proposed a threshold of 20 RC/year, the present findings propose increasing this threshold to 50 RC/year to achieve optimal perioperative outcomes. Based on these results, the threshold of 20 RC/year proposed by the EAU, should be reconsidered since it was not based on hospital- or patient-level analyses. More specifically, although the Guideline Panel of the EAU on Muscleinvasive Bladder Cancer undertook a high-quality systematic review with a rigorous methodology, the low level of existing evidence, as well as the heterogeneity of the included studies in terms of selection criteria and applied thresholds for hospital caseload did not permit the authors to perform a meta-analysis and directly calculate a solid hospital caseload threshold from the available studies. Based on the previous notion, the Guideline Panel suggested, based mainly on expert opinions, that centers performing RC should undertake at least 10, and preferably more than 20 RC/year. This dissertation demonstrates that hospitals should undertake at least 20, and preferably more than 50 RC/year. Furthermore, centers that manage to perform more than 70 RC/year should be considered excellence centers. The aforementioned thresholds not only lead to a substantial improvement in inpatient morbidity and mortality but also reduce the length of hospital stay and inpatient costs. Interestingly, the German guidelines on bladder cancer suggest that, since the annual hospital and surgeon caseload for RC has only been defined from retrospective studies, no clear recommendations can be made about the minimum required number of annual RC per surgeon or per hospital that can improve perioperative outcomes <sup>161</sup>.

A plethora of available studies in the literature have already attempted to determine an optimal hospital threshold for RC. In a high-volume retrospective analysis with 6,790 patients, Arora et al. concluded that major inpatient complications reach a plateau at 45–50 RC/year after assessing the United States National Inpatient Sample . Moreover, Richters et al. demonstrated a statistically significant decrease in terms of postoperative mortality in hospitals performing more than 30 RC/year compared to hospitals performing fewer than 30 RC/year after assessing the Netherlands Cancer Registry with 9,287 patients <sup>163</sup>.

Nevertheless, apart from these high-quality studies, most existing studies have arbitrarily applied a hospital caseload based on the distribution of hospitals performing RC in percentiles from each database <sup>164</sup>. Therefore, estimations of RC hospital caseload threshold display important variety. In previous studies, hospitals that perform at least two RC/year have been considered low-volume centers, while hospitals that perform more than 50 RC/year have been considered high-volume centers <sup>165</sup>. To complicate things further, healthcare policymakers in countries such as the United Kingdom or the Netherlands obligate hospitals to perform a minimum of 20 RC/year or at least 50 RC and radical prostatectomies per year <sup>166</sup>. In an attempt to harmonize perioperative outcomes and heterogeneity in the literature, multiple patient-level analyses with different thresholds were performed. These analyses suggest that centers that perform fewer than 20

RC/year should try to refer patients with bladder cancer, while centers that reach at least 50 RC/year should be considered referral centers. Moreover, centers that exceed 70 RC/year should be considered excellence centers.

It should be noted that the present dissertation, not only provides evidence that a threshold of 50 RC per year might be more accurate compared to the proposed by the EAU threshold of 20 RC per year but also corroborates and strengthens the findings of available studies on perioperative outcomes after RC <sup>167</sup>. Based on nationwide data, patients undergoing RC in Germany are relatively old with multiple comorbidities such as chronic kidney disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and heart failure <sup>132,168</sup>. Given that smoking, previous radiotherapy, and metabolic disorders are considered among the main risk factors for muscle-invasive bladder cancer, most patients at diagnosis display multiple comorbidities which negatively affect perioperative mortality and morbidity <sup>169</sup>.

#### 7.6 Operative techniques and radical cystectomy

In Germany, it seems that continent urinary diversions are widely performed. About one-third of all patients undergoing RC received a neobladder. This proportion was even higher among patients undergoing surgery in high-volume centers. On the contrary, simpler urinary diversions such as ureterocutaneostomy were more common in low-volume centers. In an analysis of the British Association of Urological Surgeons cystectomy audit and Hospital Episodes Statistics data, ileal conduit was the commonest urinary diversion after RC with 86% cases, followed by orthotopic neobladder with 5.3% cases. A continent cutaneous pouch was preferred in 1.9% of all patients, a rectal diversion in 0.2% of all patients, while 6.3% of all patients received another urinary diversion (in most cases ureterocutaneostomy), or no data were available.

Analyses from the NIS dataset show that ileal conduit is preferred in about 87% of the cases, while ureterocutaneostomy is rarely applied in the USA (1.1%) <sup>92</sup>. Administrative data from the Netherlands present comparable trends to Germany for the type of urinary diversion, since about 62% of all patients operated in the Netherlands receive ileal conduit, 7% receive continent cutaneous reservoir and

10% receive an orthotopic neobladder <sup>138</sup>. Of note, it seems that the type of urinary diversion (continent versus incontinent) does not vary significantly based on the selected surgical approach (open versus minimally invasive) <sup>170</sup>.

It seems that, in Germany, robot-assisted RC is not yet widely implemented even in high-volume centers. The overall proportion of laparoscopic RC was estimated at 2% and the proportion of robotic RC was estimated at 3%. On the contrary, in the USA, laparoscopic RC is performed only in 0.9% of all cases but robotic RC is performed in 20.5% of all cases <sup>121</sup>. Similar proportions have been reported from experienced centers in Italy. Overall, it seems that 70% of all patients undergo open RC, 25% robotic RC, and 3.4% laparoscopic RC <sup>171</sup>. Nevertheless, a trend for a swift of RC to a robotic approach is observed in most countries <sup>172</sup>.

#### 7.7 COVID and radical cystectomy

Interestingly, inpatient mortality remained stable from 2005 to 2020 and the COVID-19 pandemic with its lockdown period did not seem to impact both inpatient mortality and the annual number of RCs performed in Germany <sup>173,174</sup>. This may be explained by the fact that, after the COVID-19 pandemic outbreak, the Guidelines Office of the EAU published recommendations on the management of urological conditions. The treatment of muscle-invasive bladder cancer was prioritized despite the major disruption of routine hospital services <sup>175,176</sup>. Indeed, oncological surgeries displayed low cancellation rates during the initial pandemic waves. In particular, the cancellation rates in Europe for different oncological surgeries were: 27% for TUR-B, 21% for RC, 21% for nephroureterectomy, 18% for radical nephrectomy, and 8% for radical orchiectomy. Interestingly, radical prostatectomy presented an increased cancellation rate of 43% <sup>177</sup>. Still, it should be highlighted that despite the treatment backlog in urological surgery during the COVID-19 pandemic, all oncological surgeries were soon rescheduled, and the healthcare system recovered relatively promptly after the lockdown period <sup>178</sup>.

#### 7.8 Strengths and limitations

RC is a necessary procedure for the management of aggressive bladder cancer with high complication rates <sup>82</sup>. In this context, this dissertation provides the first analysis to address perioperative outcomes in a holistic approach, using multiple sophisticated statistical methods. The GRAND study is considered one of the largest and most precise administrative and population-based datasets worldwide. Its findings were also evaluated by the Research Data Center of the Federal Bureau of Statistics for data integrity <sup>179</sup>. Although this study does not provide a high level of evidence due to its retrospective design, it may raise clinical awareness about the importance of centralization for bladder cancer management. Furthermore, the analyses of the GRAND study were not pre-specified. Thus, the findings of the present dissertation can only be considered hypothesis-generating. In an attempt to overcome these problems, the Youden's index was used to determine the optimal thresholds not only for mortality and important inpatient complications but also for the length of hospital stay and costs.

Even though this study contains the largest analysis assessing the annual RC hospital caseload on inpatient mortality, morbidity, length of hospital stay, and hospital revenues, it should be recognized that its findings are not devoid of some limitations that need to be considered. Firstly, the analyses are based on retro-spective, administrative data, and, thus, are prone to coding errors, misclassification, or inconsistencies. Based on the previous notion, the morbidity analyses were restricted only to ileus, sepsis, and transfusion. Even though the billing data of the German nationwide inpatient database present a high degree of accuracy and are regularly checked by independent physician task forces from health insurances, important information is missing. For example, data such as the oncological status of the patients based on their histology, TNM classification, and surgical margins, as well as their laboratory findings are not available.

Moreover, data on the annual surgeon's caseload are not provided. Still, it should be highlighted that regarding the annual surgeon's caseload, only limited and conflicting data are available. In particular, based on multiple studies, higher surgeon volume does not seem to independently reduce in-hospital mortality <sup>101</sup>. This finding might be explained by the fact that a perioperative multidisciplinary approach is mandatory for patients undergoing RC <sup>180</sup>. It seems that the "total package" of care determines outcomes and, therefore, the hospital volume is the main driver of perioperative outcomes <sup>181</sup>.

It should be also acknowledged that data on mortality and morbidity after discharge from the hospital, functional outcomes, rates of readmission, as well as follow-up information are not provided in the GRAND study, limiting the extrapolation of the present findings. Moreover, the Research Data Center excludes variables with fewer than three observations to ensure anonymity and, thus, further outcomes could not be assessed. Finally, all analyses were restricted to data deriving from Germany and, therefore, cannot be applied to other healthcare systems.

### 8. Conclusions

The present dissertation aimed to examine the German Nationwide Inpatient Data in an attempt to provide a threshold for the RC annual hospital caseload that improves morbidity and mortality and reduces the length of hospital stay and hospital revenues. Based on its findings, hospitals that perform at least 50 RC/year should be considered referral centers, and hospitals that perform at least 70 RC/year should be considered excellence centers. Accordingly, considering that patients who undergo RC in low-volume centers present worse perioperative outcomes, these hospitals should refer patients to centers that reach the minimum requirement of twenty RC/year.

An additional important result of the German administrative data is the fact that the estimated number and severity of perioperative complications were lower compared to other European and Western countries. It should be highlighted that an important proportion of hospitals in Germany reach the minimum recommended thresholds for annual hospital caseload volume. Interestingly, even though the number of RC performed every year increased in Germany in the last years, the perioperative mortality remained stable. Moreover, the COVID-19 pandemic did not negatively affect the number of annual RC and their perioperative outcomes.

Overall, the findings of this dissertation assessing the GRAND study highlight the potential benefits of centralizing bladder cancer care. The latter may not only be useful for patients and hospitals who aim to improve perioperative mortality and morbidity but may also be decisive for healthcare policymakers who aim to reduce the length of hospital stay and the hospital revenues.

**Ethics statement:** Written informed consent from the participants, as well as ethical approval, was not required for the present study in accordance with the national legislation and institutional requirements. All data used in this work are stored anonymized at the German Federal Statistical Office

Conflict of interest: None declared.

**Funding information:** This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

### 9. References

- 1. Richters A, Aben KKH, Kiemeney LALM. The global burden of urinary bladder cancer: an update. *World J Urol.* 2020;38(8):1895-1904. doi:10.1007/s00345-019-02984-4
- Antoni S, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Znaor A, Jemal A, Bray F. Bladder Cancer Incidence and Mortality: A Global Overview and Recent Trends. *Eur Urol.* 2017;71(1):96-108. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2016.06.010
- 3. Robert Koch Institut, u.d.G.d.e.K.i.D.e.V., Krebs in Deutschland. 2018: Berlin.
- 4. Burger M, Catto JWF, Dalbagni G, et al. Epidemiology and risk factors of urothelial bladder cancer. *Eur Urol*. 2013;63(2):234-241. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2012.07.033
- Volz Y, Trappmann R, Ebner B, et al. Absence of detrusor muscle in TUR-BT specimen can we predict who is at highest risk? *BMC Urol*. 2023;23(1):106. doi:10.1186/s12894-023-01278-7
- Schulz GB, Grimm T, Buchner A, et al. Bladder Cancer Stage Development, 2004-2014 in Europe Compared With the United States: Analysis of European Population-based Cancer Registries, the United States SEER Database, and a Large Tertiary Institutional Cohort. *Clin Genitourin Cancer*. 2020;18(3):162-170.e4. doi:10.1016/j.clgc.2019.10.008
- Dobruch J, Daneshmand S, Fisch M, et al. Gender and Bladder Cancer: A Collaborative Review of Etiology, Biology, and Outcomes. *Eur Urol.* 2016;69(2):300-310. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2015.08.037
- 8. Kirkali Z, Chan T, Manoharan M, et al. Bladder cancer: epidemiology, staging and grading, and diagnosis. *Urology*. 2005;66(6 Suppl 1):4-34. doi:10.1016/j.urology.2005.07.062
- Henning A, Wehrberger M, Madersbacher S, et al. Do differences in clinical symptoms and referral patterns contribute to the gender gap in bladder cancer? *BJU Int.* 2013;112(1):68-73. doi:10.1111/j.1464-410X.2012.11661.x
- Teoh JYC, Huang J, Ko WYK, et al. Global Trends of Bladder Cancer Incidence and Mortality, and Their Associations with Tobacco Use and Gross Domestic Product Per Capita. *Eur Urol.* 2020;78(6):893-906. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2020.09.006
- Freedman ND, Silverman DT, Hollenbeck AR, Schatzkin A, Abnet CC. Association between smoking and risk of bladder cancer among men and women. *JAMA*. 2011;306(7):737-745. doi:10.1001/jama.2011.1142
- 12. Marcus PM, Hayes RB, Vineis P, et al. Cigarette smoking, N-acetyltransferase 2 acetylation status, and bladder cancer risk: a case-series meta-analysis of a gene-environment

interaction. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev Publ Am Assoc Cancer Res Cosponsored Am Soc Prev Oncol. 2000;9(5):461-467.

- 13. Rushton L, Bagga S, Bevan R, et al. Occupation and cancer in Britain. *Br J Cancer*. 2010;102(9):1428-1437. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6605637
- 14. Bedwani R, Renganathan E, El Kwhsky F, et al. Schistosomiasis and the risk of bladder cancer in Alexandria, Egypt. *Br J Cancer*. 1998;77(7):1186-1189. doi:10.1038/bjc.1998.197
- Moschini M, Zaffuto E, Karakiewicz PI, et al. External Beam Radiotherapy Increases the Risk of Bladder Cancer When Compared with Radical Prostatectomy in Patients Affected by Prostate Cancer: A Population-based Analysis. *Eur Urol.* 2019;75(2):319-328. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2018.09.034
- Fairchild WV, Spence CR, Solomon HD, Gangai MP. The incidence of bladder cancer after cyclophosphamide therapy. *J Urol*. 1979;122(2):163-164. doi:10.1016/s0022-5347(17)56306-5
- Egbers L, Grotenhuis AJ, Aben KK, Alfred Witjes J, Kiemeney LA, Vermeulen SH. The prognostic value of family history among patients with urinary bladder cancer. *Int J Cancer J Int Cancer*. 2015;136(5):1117-1124. doi:10.1002/ijc.29062
- Al-Zalabani AH, Stewart KFJ, Wesselius A, Schols AMWJ, Zeegers MP. Modifiable risk factors for the prevention of bladder cancer: a systematic review of meta-analyses. *Eur J Epidemiol.* 2016;31(9):811-851. doi:10.1007/s10654-016-0138-6
- Xylinas E, Rink M, Robinson BD, et al. Impact of histological variants on oncological outcomes of patients with urothelial carcinoma of the bladder treated with radical cystectomy. *Eur J Cancer Oxf Engl 1990.* 2013;49(8):1889-1897. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2013.02.001
- Pyrgidis N, Mykoniatis I, Pegios VF, et al. Amyloidosis of the Urinary Bladder: A Systematic Review and a Proposed Management Algorithm. *Urology*. 2021;156:e12-e19. doi:10.1016/j.urology.2021.07.013
- Luchey AM, Manimala NJ, Dickinson S, et al. Change in Management Based on Pathologic Second Opinion Among Bladder Cancer Patients Presenting to a Comprehensive Cancer Center: Implications for Clinical Practice. *Urology*. 2016;93:130-134. doi:10.1016/j.urology.2016.01.048
- 22. Park S, Reuter VE, Hansel DE. Non-urothelial carcinomas of the bladder. *Histopathology*. 2019;74(1):97-111. doi:10.1111/his.13719
- 23. Pyrgidis N, Sokolakis I, Haltmair G, Hatzichristodoulou G. The perioperative and long-term outcomes of patients with variant histology bladder cancer undergoing radical cystectomy:

A propensity score-matched analysis with pure urothelial carcinoma. *Actas Urol Esp Engl Ed.* Published online June 22, 2023. doi:10.1016/j.acuroe.2023.06.007

- 24. Board WC of TE. Urinary and Male Genital Tumours. Accessed July 22, 2023. https://publications.iarc.fr/Book-And-Report-Series/Who-Classification-Of-Tumours/Urinary-And-Male-Genital-Tumours-2022
- 25. Ahmadi H, Duddalwar V, Daneshmand S. Diagnosis and Staging of Bladder Cancer. *Hematol Oncol Clin North Am.* 2021;35(3):531-541. doi:10.1016/j.hoc.2021.02.004
- 26. Sanli O, Dobruch J, Knowles MA, et al. Bladder cancer. *Nat Rev Dis Primer*. 2017;3:17022. doi:10.1038/nrdp.2017.22
- 27. van Rhijn BWG, van der Kwast TH, Alkhateeb SS, et al. A new and highly prognostic system to discern T1 bladder cancer substage. *Eur Urol*. 2012;61(2):378-384. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2011.10.026
- May M, Brookman-Amissah S, Roigas J, et al. Prognostic Accuracy of Individual Uropathologists in Noninvasive Urinary Bladder Carcinoma: A Multicentre Study Comparing the 1973 and 2004 World Health Organisation Classifications. *Eur Urol.* 2010;57(5):850-858. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2009.03.052
- Ramirez D, Gupta A, Canter D, et al. Microscopic haematuria at time of diagnosis is associated with lower disease stage in patients with newly diagnosed bladder cancer. *BJU Int.* 2016;117(5):783-786. doi:10.1111/bju.13345
- Khadhouri S, Gallagher KM, MacKenzie KR, et al. Developing a Diagnostic Multivariable Prediction Model for Urinary Tract Cancer in Patients Referred with Haematuria: Results from the IDENTIFY Collaborative Study. *Eur Urol Focus*. 2022;8(6):1673-1682. doi:10.1016/j.euf.2022.06.001
- 31. Zigeuner R. Bladder cancer in 2016: News in diagnosis, treatment, and risk group assessment. *Nat Rev Urol.* 2017;14(2):74-76. doi:10.1038/nrurol.2016.264
- Compérat E, Amin MB, Cathomas R, et al. Current best practice for bladder cancer: a narrative review of diagnostics and treatments. *The Lancet*. 2022;400(10364):1712-1721. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(22)01188-6
- Witjes JA, Moonen PMJ, van der Heijden AG. Review pathology in a diagnostic bladder cancer trial: effect of patient risk category. *Urology*. 2006;67(4):751-755. doi:10.1016/j.urology.2005.10.028
- 34. Krajewski W, Kościelska-Kasprzak K, Rymaszewska J, Zdrojowy R. How different cystoscopy methods influence patient sexual satisfaction, anxiety, and depression levels: a

randomized prospective trial. *Qual Life Res Int J Qual Life Asp Treat Care Rehabil*. 2017;26(3):625-634. doi:10.1007/s11136-016-1493-1

- 35. Lenis AT, Lec PM, Chamie K, Mshs MD. Bladder Cancer: A Review. *JAMA*. 2020;324(19):1980-1991. doi:10.1001/jama.2020.17598
- Karakiewicz PI, Benayoun S, Zippe C, et al. Institutional variability in the accuracy of urinary cytology for predicting recurrence of transitional cell carcinoma of the bladder. *BJU Int.* 2006;97(5):997-1001. doi:10.1111/j.1464-410X.2006.06036.x
- 37. Wojcik EM, Kurtycz DFI, Rosenthal DL, eds. *The Paris System for Reporting Urinary Cytol*ogy. Springer International Publishing; 2022. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-88686-8
- Laukhtina E, Shim SR, Mori K, et al. Diagnostic Accuracy of Novel Urinary Biomarker Tests in Non-muscle-invasive Bladder Cancer: A Systematic Review and Network Meta-analysis. *Eur Urol Oncol.* 2021;4(6):927-942. doi:10.1016/j.euo.2021.10.003
- Kamat AM, Hegarty PK, Gee JR, et al. ICUD-EAU International Consultation on Bladder Cancer 2012: Screening, diagnosis, and molecular markers. *Eur Urol.* 2013;63(1):4-15. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2012.09.057
- 40. Lokeshwar VB, Selzer MG. Urinary bladder tumor markers. *Urol Oncol.* 2006;24(6):528-537. doi:10.1016/j.urolonc.2006.07.003
- Ferlay J, Colombet M, Soerjomataram I, et al. Estimating the global cancer incidence and mortality in 2018: GLOBOCAN sources and methods. *Int J Cancer*. 2019;144(8):1941-1953. doi:10.1002/ijc.31937
- Babjuk M, Burger M, Compérat EM, et al. European Association of Urology Guidelines on Non-muscle-invasive Bladder Cancer (TaT1 and Carcinoma In Situ) - 2019 Update. *Eur Urol.* 2019;76(5):639-657. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2019.08.016
- Pyrgidis N, Lackner J, Schneidewind L, Sokolakis I. [Treatment of Ta and T1 intermediate or high risk bladder cancer with intravesical Bacillus Calmette-Guérin or mitomycin C]. Urol Ausg A. 2021;60(2):234-237. doi:10.1007/s00120-021-01443-6
- Anderson C, Weber R, Patel D, et al. A 10-Item Checklist Improves Reporting of Critical Procedural Elements during Transurethral Resection of Bladder Tumor. *J Urol.* 2016;196(4):1014-1020. doi:10.1016/j.juro.2016.03.151
- 45. Sylvester RJ, van der Meijden APM, Oosterlinck W, et al. Predicting recurrence and progression in individual patients with stage Ta T1 bladder cancer using EORTC risk tables: a combined analysis of 2596 patients from seven EORTC trials. *Eur Urol*. 2006;49(3):466-467. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2005.12.031

- 46. Cambier S, Sylvester RJ, Collette L, et al. EORTC Nomograms and Risk Groups for Predicting Recurrence, Progression, and Disease-specific and Overall Survival in Non-Muscleinvasive Stage Ta-T1 Urothelial Bladder Cancer Patients Treated with 1-3 Years of Maintenance Bacillus Calmette-Guérin. *Eur Urol.* 2016;69(1):60-69. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2015.06.045
- 47. Sylvester RJ, Rodríguez O, Hernández V, et al. European Association of Urology (EAU) Prognostic Factor Risk Groups for Non-muscle-invasive Bladder Cancer (NMIBC) Incorporating the WHO 2004/2016 and WHO 1973 Classification Systems for Grade: An Update from the EAU NMIBC Guidelines Panel. *Eur Urol*. 2021;79(4):480-488. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2020.12.033
- Hurle R, Lazzeri M, Vanni E, et al. Active Surveillance for Low Risk Nonmuscle Invasive Bladder Cancer: A Confirmatory and Resource Consumption Study from the BIAS Project. *J Urol.* 2018;199(2):401-406. doi:10.1016/j.juro.2017.08.091
- Koch GE, Smelser WW, Chang SS. Side Effects of Intravesical BCG and Chemotherapy for Bladder Cancer: What They Are and How to Manage Them. *Urology*. 2021;149:11-20. doi:10.1016/j.urology.2020.10.039
- 50. Kamat AM, Witjes JA, Brausi M, et al. Defining and treating the spectrum of intermediate risk nonmuscle invasive bladder cancer. *J Urol*. 2014;192(2):305-315. doi:10.1016/j.juro.2014.02.2573
- 51. Sylvester RJ, Oosterlinck W, Holmang S, et al. Systematic Review and Individual Patient Data Meta-analysis of Randomized Trials Comparing a Single Immediate Instillation of Chemotherapy After Transurethral Resection with Transurethral Resection Alone in Patients with Stage pTa-pT1 Urothelial Carcinoma of the Bladder: Which Patients Benefit from the Instillation? *Eur Urol.* 2016;69(2):231-244. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2015.05.050
- Martin-Doyle W, Leow JJ, Orsola A, Chang SL, Bellmunt J. Improving selection criteria for early cystectomy in high-grade t1 bladder cancer: a meta-analysis of 15,215 patients. *J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol.* 2015;33(6):643-650. doi:10.1200/JCO.2014.57.6967
- Catto JWF, Gordon K, Collinson M, et al. Radical Cystectomy Against Intravesical BCG for High-Risk High-Grade Nonmuscle Invasive Bladder Cancer: Results From the Randomized Controlled BRAVO-Feasibility Study. *J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol*. 2021;39(3):202-214. doi:10.1200/JCO.20.01665
- 54. Soukup V, Babjuk M, Bellmunt J, et al. Follow-up after surgical treatment of bladder cancer: a critical analysis of the literature. *Eur Urol*. 2012;62(2):290-302. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2012.05.008
- 55. Savvides E, Pyrgidis N, Langas G, Symeonidis EN, Dimitriadis G, Sountoulides P. Concomitant Endoscopic Surgery for Bladder Tumors and Prostatic Obstruction: Are We Safely Hitting Two Birds with One Stone? A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *J Clin Med*. 2022;11(20):6208. doi:10.3390/jcm11206208
- Witjes JA, Bruins HM, Cathomas R, et al. European Association of Urology Guidelines on Muscle-invasive and Metastatic Bladder Cancer: Summary of the 2020 Guidelines. *Eur Urol.* 2021;79(1):82-104. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2020.03.055
- 57. Premo C, Apolo AB, Agarwal PK, Citrin D. Trimodality therapy in bladder cancer: Who, what and when? *Urol Clin North Am*. 2015;42(2):169-vii. doi:10.1016/j.ucl.2015.02.002
- Zlotta AR, Ballas LK, Niemierko A, et al. Radical cystectomy versus trimodality therapy for muscle-invasive bladder cancer: a multi-institutional propensity score matched and weighted analysis. *Lancet Oncol.* 2023;24(6):669-681. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(23)00170-5
- 59. Nadal R, Bellmunt J. Management of metastatic bladder cancer. *Cancer Treat Rev.* 2019;76:10-21. doi:10.1016/j.ctrv.2019.04.002
- Pyrgidis N, Hatzichristodoulou G, Sokolakis I. [Adverse events of immune checkpoint inhibitors therapy for urologic cancer patients. A commentary]. Urol Heidelb Ger. 2023;62(1):71-74. doi:10.1007/s00120-022-02001-4
- Mori K, Abufaraj M, Mostafaei H, et al. A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Variant Histology in Urothelial Carcinoma of the Bladder Treated with Radical Cystectomy. *J Urol.* 2020;204(6):1129-1140. doi:10.1097/JU.00000000001305
- Skolarikos A. Re: Effect of Robot-assisted Radical Cystectomy with Intracorporeal Urinary Diversion vs Open Radical Cystectomy on 90-Day Morbidity and Mortality Among Patients with Bladder Cancer: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *Eur Urol.* 2022;82(4):441-442. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2022.07.010
- 63. Khetrapal P, Wong JKL, Tan WP, et al. Robot-assisted Radical Cystectomy Versus Open Radical Cystectomy: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Perioperative, Oncological, and Quality of Life Outcomes Using Randomized Controlled Trials. *Eur Urol*. Published online May 9, 2023:S0302-2838(23)02726-4. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2023.04.004
- Rai BP, Bondad J, Vasdev N, et al. Robotic versus open radical cystectomy for bladder cancer in adults. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2019;4(4):CD011903. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD011903.pub2
- 65. Kaye DR, Mullins JK, Carter HB, Bivalacqua TJ. Robotic surgery in urological oncology: patient care or market share? *Nat Rev Urol*. 2015;12(1):55-60. doi:10.1038/nrurol.2014.339

- Flaig TW, Spiess PE, Agarwal N, et al. NCCN Guidelines Insights: Bladder Cancer, Version 5.2018. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw JNCCN. 2018;16(9):1041-1053. doi:10.6004/jnccn.2018.0072
- Russell B, Liedberg F, Khan MS, et al. A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Delay in Radical Cystectomy and the Effect on Survival in Bladder Cancer Patients. *Eur Urol Oncol.* 2020;3(2):239-249. doi:10.1016/j.euo.2019.09.008
- Perera M, McGrath S, Sengupta S, Crozier J, Bolton D, Lawrentschuk N. Pelvic lymph node dissection during radical cystectomy for muscle-invasive bladder cancer. *Nat Rev Urol.* 2018;15(11):686-692. doi:10.1038/s41585-018-0066-1
- Zehnder P, Studer UE, Skinner EC, et al. Super extended versus extended pelvic lymph node dissection in patients undergoing radical cystectomy for bladder cancer: a comparative study. *J Urol.* 2011;186(4):1261-1268. doi:10.1016/j.juro.2011.06.004
- Hautmann RE, Abol-Enein H, Davidsson T, et al. ICUD-EAU International Consultation on Bladder Cancer 2012: Urinary diversion. *Eur Urol.* 2013;63(1):67-80. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2012.08.050
- Mally D, John P, Pfister D, Heidenreich A, Albers P, Niegisch G. Comparative Analysis of Elderly Patients Undergoing Radical Cystectomy With Ureterocutaneostomy or Ileal Conduit With a Special Focus on Bowl Complications Requiring Surgical Revision. *Front Surg.* 2022;9:803926. doi:10.3389/fsurg.2022.803926
- Colombo R, Naspro R. Ileal Conduit as the Standard for Urinary Diversion After Radical Cystectomy for Bladder Cancer. *Eur Urol Suppl.* 2010;9(10):736-744. doi:10.1016/j.eursup.2010.09.001
- 73. Wallace DM. Uretero-ileostomy. *Br J Urol*. 1970;42(5):529-534. doi:10.1111/j.1464-410x.1970.tb04498.x
- 74. Korkes F, Fernandes E, Gushiken FA, et al. Bricker ileal conduit vs. Cutaneous ureterostomy after radical cystectomy for bladder cancer: a systematic review. *Int Braz J Urol Off J Braz Soc Urol*. 2022;48(1):18-30. doi:10.1590/S1677-5538.IBJU.2020.0892
- Hautmann RE, de Petriconi RC, Volkmer BG. 25 years of experience with 1,000 neobladders: long-term complications. *J Urol*. 2011;185(6):2207-2212. doi:10.1016/j.juro.2011.02.006
- Thüroff JW, Riedmiller H, Fisch M, Stein R, Hampel C, Hohenfellner R. Mainz pouch continent cutaneous diversion. *BJU Int*. 2010;106(11):1830-1854. doi:10.1111/j.1464-410X.2010.09773.x

- Hautmann RE, de Petriconi RC, Volkmer BG. Lessons learned from 1,000 neobladders: the 90-day complication rate. *J Urol*. 2010;184(3):990-994; quiz 1235. doi:10.1016/j.juro.2010.05.037
- 78. Hautmann RE, Hautmann SH, Hautmann O. Complications associated with urinary diversion. *Nat Rev Urol.* 2011;8(12):667-677. doi:10.1038/nrurol.2011.147
- 79. Kristjansson A, Mansson W. Renal function in the setting of urinary diversion. *World J Urol.* 2004;22(3):172-177. doi:10.1007/s00345-004-0431-y
- Al Hussein Al Awamlh B, Wang LC, Nguyen DP, et al. Is continent cutaneous urinary diversion a suitable alternative to orthotopic bladder substitute and ileal conduit after cystectomy? *BJU Int*. 2015;116(5):805-814. doi:10.1111/bju.12919
- Yang LS, Shan BL, Shan LL, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of quality of life outcomes after radical cystectomy for bladder cancer. *Surg Oncol.* 2016;25(3):281-297. doi:10.1016/j.suronc.2016.05.027
- Mastroianni R, Ferriero M, Tuderti G, et al. Open Radical Cystectomy versus Robot-Assisted Radical Cystectomy with Intracorporeal Urinary Diversion: Early Outcomes of a Single-Center Randomized Controlled Trial. *J Urol.* 2022;207(5):982-992. doi:10.1097/JU.00000000002422
- Catto JWF, Khetrapal P, Ricciardi F, et al. Effect of Robot-Assisted Radical Cystectomy With Intracorporeal Urinary Diversion vs Open Radical Cystectomy on 90-Day Morbidity and Mortality Among Patients With Bladder Cancer: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA*. 2022;327(21):2092-2103. doi:10.1001/jama.2022.7393
- Svatek RS, Hollenbeck BK, Holmäng S, et al. The economics of bladder cancer: costs and considerations of caring for this disease. *Eur Urol.* 2014;66(2):253-262. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2014.01.006
- 85. Gschwend JE, Heck MM, Lehmann J, et al. Extended Versus Limited Lymph Node Dissection in Bladder Cancer Patients Undergoing Radical Cystectomy: Survival Results from a Prospective, Randomized Trial. *Eur Urol.* 2019;75(4):604-611. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2018.09.047
- Wijburg CJ, Michels CTJ, Hannink G, et al. Robot-assisted Radical Cystectomy Versus Open Radical Cystectomy in Bladder Cancer Patients: A Multicentre Comparative Effectiveness Study. *Eur Urol.* 2021;79(5):609-618. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2020.12.023
- Khan MS, Gan C, Ahmed K, et al. A Single-centre Early Phase Randomised Controlled Three-arm Trial of Open, Robotic, and Laparoscopic Radical Cystectomy (CORAL). *Eur Urol.* 2016;69(4):613-621. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2015.07.038

- Bochner BH, Dalbagni G, Sjoberg DD, et al. Comparing Open Radical Cystectomy and Robot-assisted Laparoscopic Radical Cystectomy: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *Eur Urol*. 2015;67(6):1042-1050. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2014.11.043
- Katsimperis S, Tzelves L, Tandogdu Z, et al. Complications After Radical Cystectomy: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials with a Meta-regression Analysis. *Eur Urol Focus*. Published online May 26, 2023:S2405-4569(23)00113-X. doi:10.1016/j.euf.2023.05.002
- Mitropoulos D, Artibani W, Biyani CS, Bjerggaard Jensen J, Rouprêt M, Truss M. Validation of the Clavien-Dindo Grading System in Urology by the European Association of Urology Guidelines Ad Hoc Panel. *Eur Urol Focus*. 2018;4(4):608-613. doi:10.1016/j.euf.2017.02.014
- Slankamenac K, Graf R, Barkun J, Puhan MA, Clavien PA. The comprehensive complication index: a novel continuous scale to measure surgical morbidity. *Ann Surg.* 2013;258(1):1-7. doi:10.1097/SLA.0b013e318296c732
- Groeben C, Koch R, Baunacke M, et al. Urinary Diversion After Radical Cystectomy for Bladder Cancer: Comparing Trends in the US and Germany from 2006 to 2014. Ann Surg Oncol. 2018;25(12):3502-3509. doi:10.1245/s10434-018-6381-1
- Finks JF, Osborne NH, Birkmeyer JD. Trends in Hospital Volume and Operative Mortality for High-Risk Surgery. *N Engl J Med*. 2011;364(22):2128-2137. doi:10.1056/NEJMsa1010705
- Leow JJ, Reese S, Trinh QD, et al. Impact of surgeon volume on the morbidity and costs of radical cystectomy in the USA: a contemporary population-based analysis. *BJU Int.* 2015;115(5):713-721. doi:10.1111/bju.12749
- 95. Goossens-Laan CA, Gooiker GA, van Gijn W, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the relationship between hospital/surgeon volume and outcome for radical cystectomy: an update for the ongoing debate. *Eur Urol.* 2011;59(5):775-783. doi:10.1016/j.eu-ruro.2011.01.037
- Williams SB, Ray-Zack MD, Hudgins HK, et al. Impact of Centralizing Care for Genitourinary Malignancies to High-volume Providers: A Systematic Review. *Eur Urol Oncol.* 2019;2(3):265-273. doi:10.1016/j.euo.2018.10.006
- Siemens DR, Mackillop WJ, Peng Y, et al. Processes of care and the impact of surgical volumes on cancer-specific survival: a population-based study in bladder cancer. *Urology*. 2014;84(5):1049-1057. doi:10.1016/j.urology.2014.06.070

- Moschini M, Simone G, Stenzl A, Gill IS, Catto J. Critical Review of Outcomes from Radical Cystectomy: Can Complications from Radical Cystectomy Be Reduced by Surgical Volume and Robotic Surgery? *Eur Urol Focus*. 2016;2(1):19-29. doi:10.1016/j.euf.2016.03.001
- Bruins HM, Veskimäe E, Hernández V, et al. The Importance of Hospital and Surgeon Volume as Major Determinants of Morbidity and Mortality After Radical Cystectomy for Bladder Cancer: A Systematic Review and Recommendations by the European Association of Urology Muscle-invasive and Metastatic Bladder Cancer Guideline Panel. *Eur Urol Oncol.* 2020;3(2):131-144. doi:10.1016/j.euo.2019.11.005
- Ravi P, Bianchi M, Hansen J, et al. Benefit in regionalisation of care for patients treated with radical cystectomy: a nationwide inpatient sample analysis. *BJU Int.* 2014;113(5):733-740. doi:10.1111/bju.12288
- Mayer EK, Bottle A, Darzi AW, Athanasiou T, Vale JA. The volume-mortality relation for radical cystectomy in England: retrospective analysis of hospital episode statistics. *BMJ*. 2010;340:c1128. doi:10.1136/bmj.c1128
- 102. Zakaria AS, Santos F, Dragomir A, Tanguay S, Kassouf W, Aprikian AG. Postoperative mortality and complications after radical cystectomy for bladder cancer in Quebec: A population-based analysis during the years 2000–2009. *Can Urol Assoc J.* 2014;8(7-8):259-267. doi:10.5489/cuaj.1997
- 103. Jaeger MT, Siemens DR, Wei X, Peng P, Booth CM. Association Between Anesthesiology Volumes and Early and Late Outcomes After Cystectomy for Bladder Cancer: A Population-Based Study. *Anesth Analg.* 2017;125(1):147-155. doi:10.1213/ANE.00000000001781
- 104. Karl A, Buchner A, Becker A, et al. A new concept for early recovery after surgery for patients undergoing radical cystectomy for bladder cancer: results of a prospective randomized study. *J Urol.* 2014;191(2):335-340. doi:10.1016/j.juro.2013.08.019
- 105. Udovicich C, Perera M, Huq M, Wong LM, Lenaghan D. Hospital volume and perioperative outcomes for radical cystectomy: a population study. *BJU Int*. 2017;119 Suppl 5:26-32. doi:10.1111/bju.13827
- 106. Konety BR, Dhawan V, Allareddy V, Joslyn SA. Impact of hospital and surgeon volume on in-hospital mortality from radical cystectomy: data from the health care utilization project. *J Urol.* 2005;173(5):1695-1700. doi:10.1097/01.ju.0000154638.61621.03
- 107. Kulkarni GS, Urbach DR, Austin PC, Fleshner NE, Laupacis A. Impact of provider volume on operative mortality after radical cystectomy in a publicly funded healthcare system. *Can Urol Assoc J J Assoc Urol Can.* 2013;7(11-12):425-429. doi:10.5489/cuaj.361

- 108. Witjes JA, Babjuk M, Bellmunt J, et al. EAU-ESMO Consensus Statements on the Management of Advanced and Variant Bladder Cancer-An International Collaborative Multistakeholder Effort†: Under the Auspices of the EAU-ESMO Guidelines Committees. *Eur Urol.* 2020;77(2):223-250. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2019.09.035
- 109. Vetterlein MW, Meyer CP, Leyh-Bannurah SR, et al. Effect of Hospital and Surgeon Case Volume on Perioperative Quality of Care and Short-term Outcomes After Radical Cystectomy for Muscle-invasive Bladder Cancer: Results From a European Tertiary Care Center Cohort. *Clin Genitourin Cancer*. 2017;15(5):e809-e817. doi:10.1016/j.clgc.2017.04.021
- Porter MP, Gore JL, Wright JL. Hospital volume and 90-day mortality risk after radical cystectomy: a population-based cohort study. *World J Urol.* 2011;29(1):73-77. doi:10.1007/s00345-010-0626-3
- 111. Liedberg F, Holmberg E, Holmäng S, et al. Long-term follow-up after radical cystectomy with emphasis on complications and reoperations: a Swedish population-based survey. *Scand J Urol Nephrol.* 2012;46(1):14-18. doi:10.3109/00365599.2011.609835
- 112. Cacciamani GE, Barzi A, Eppler MB, et al. The Impact of Facility Surgical Caseload Volumes on Survival Outcomes in Patients Undergoing Radical Cystectomy. *Cancers*. 2022;14(23):5984. doi:10.3390/cancers14235984
- 113. Groeben C, Koch R, Baunacke M, et al. [Trends in uro-oncological surgery in Germanycomparative analyses from population-based data]. *Urol Ausg A*. 2021;60(10):1257-1268. doi:10.1007/s00120-021-01623-4
- 114. Reinöhl J, Kaier K, Reinecke H, et al. Effect of Availability of Transcatheter Aortic-Valve Replacement on Clinical Practice. *N Engl J Med*. 2015;373(25):2438-2447. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1500893
- 115. Outland B, Newman MM, William MJ. Health Policy Basics: Implementation of the International Classification of Disease, 10th Revision. *Ann Intern Med.* 2015;163(7):554-556. doi:10.7326/M15-1933
- 116. Hughes G. Youden's index and the weight of evidence. *Methods Inf Med.* 2015;54(2):198-199. doi:10.3414/ME14-04-0003
- 117. Parikh CR, Philbrook HT. Chapter 2 Statistical Considerations in Analysis and Interpretation of Biomarker Studies. In: Edelstein CL, ed. *Biomarkers of Kidney Disease*. Academic Press; 2011:25-37. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-375672-5.10002-7
- 118. Kallner A. Formulas. In: Kallner A, ed. *Laboratory Statistics (Second Edition)*. Elsevier; 2018:1-140. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-814348-3.00001-0

- 119. Fluss R, Faraggi D, Reiser B. Estimation of the Youden Index and its associated cutoff point. *Biom J Biom Z*. 2005;47(4):458-472. doi:10.1002/bimj.200410135
- 120. Bougioukas KI, Haidich AB. Medical Biostatistics: Basic Concepts. In: Papademetriou V, Andreadis EA, Geladari C, eds. *Management of Hypertension: Current Practice and the Application of Landmark Trials*. Springer International Publishing; 2019:19-53. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-92946-0 2
- 121. Groeben C, Koch R, Baunacke M, Borkowetz A, Wirth MP, Huber J. In-Hospital Outcomes after Radical Cystectomy for Bladder Cancer: Comparing National Trends in the United States and Germany from 2006 to 2014. *Urol Int.* 2019;102(3):284-292. doi:10.1159/000496347
- 122. Novara G, Catto JWF, Wilson T, et al. Systematic review and cumulative analysis of perioperative outcomes and complications after robot-assisted radical cystectomy. *Eur Urol.* 2015;67(3):376-401. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2014.12.007
- 123. Mossanen M, Krasnow RE, Zlatev DV, et al. Examining the relationship between complications and perioperative mortality following radical cystectomy: a population-based analysis. *BJU Int.* 2019;124(1):40-46. doi:10.1111/bju.14636
- 124. Korbee ML, Voskuilen CS, Hendricksen K, et al. Prediction of early (30-day) and late (30-90-day) mortality after radical cystectomy in a comprehensive cancer centre over two decades. *World J Urol.* 2020;38(9):2197-2205. doi:10.1007/s00345-019-03011-2
- 125. Hounsome LS, Verne J, McGrath JS, Gillatt DA. Trends in operative caseload and mortality rates after radical cystectomy for bladder cancer in England for 1998-2010. *Eur Urol*. 2015;67(6):1056-1062. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2014.12.002
- 126. Nix J, Smith A, Kurpad R, Nielsen ME, Wallen EM, Pruthi RS. Prospective randomized controlled trial of robotic versus open radical cystectomy for bladder cancer: perioperative and pathologic results. *Eur Urol*. 2010;57(2):196-201. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2009.10.024
- 127. Cerantola Y, Valerio M, Persson B, et al. Guidelines for perioperative care after radical cystectomy for bladder cancer: Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS(®)) society recommendations. *Clin Nutr Edinb Scotl*. 2013;32(6):879-887. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2013.09.014
- 128. Ramirez JA, McIntosh AG, Strehlow R, Lawrence VA, Parekh DJ, Svatek RS. Definition, incidence, risk factors, and prevention of paralytic ileus following radical cystectomy: a systematic review. *Eur Urol.* 2013;64(4):588-597. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2012.11.051
- 129. Parekh DJ, Reis IM, Castle EP, et al. Robot-assisted radical cystectomy versus open radical cystectomy in patients with bladder cancer (RAZOR): an open-label, randomised,

phase 3, non-inferiority trial. *Lancet Lond Engl.* 2018;391(10139):2525-2536. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30996-6

- 130. Uysal D, Egen L, Grilli M, et al. Impact of perioperative blood transfusions on oncologic outcomes after radical cystectomy: A systematic review and meta-analysis of comparative studies. *Surg Oncol.* 2021;38:101592. doi:10.1016/j.suronc.2021.101592
- 131. Siemens DR, Jaeger MT, Wei X, Vera-Badillo F, Booth CM. Peri-operative allogeneic blood transfusion and outcomes after radical cystectomy: a population-based study. *World J Urol.* 2017;35(9):1435-1442. doi:10.1007/s00345-017-2009-5
- Buchner A, Grimm T, Schneevoigt BS, et al. Dramatic impact of blood transfusion on cancer-specific survival after radical cystectomy irrespective of tumor stage. *Scand J Urol.* 2017;51(2):130-136. doi:10.1080/21681805.2017.1295399
- 133. Morgan TM, Barocas DA, Chang SS, et al. The relationship between perioperative blood transfusion and overall mortality in patients undergoing radical cystectomy for bladder cancer. *Urol Oncol.* 2013;31(6):871-877. doi:10.1016/j.urolonc.2011.07.012
- 134. Volz Y, Eismann L, Pfitzinger PL, et al. Prognostic impact of perioperative blood transfusions on oncological outcomes of patients with bladder cancer undergoing radical cystectomy: A systematic review. *Arab J Urol.* 2020;19(1):24-30. doi:10.1080/2090598X.2020.1859055
- 135. Kim SP, Shah ND, Karnes RJ, et al. The implications of hospital acquired adverse events on mortality, length of stay and costs for patients undergoing radical cystectomy for bladder cancer. *J Urol*. 2012;187(6):2011-2017. doi:10.1016/j.juro.2012.01.077
- 136. Tamhankar AS, Thurtle D, Hampson A, et al. Radical Cystectomy in England from 2013 to 2019 on 12,644 patients: An analysis of national trends and comparison of surgical approaches using Hospital Episode Statistics data. *BJUI Compass*. 2021;2(5):338-347. doi:10.1002/bco2.79
- 137. Haden TD, Prunty MC, Jones AB, Deroche CB, Murray KS, Pokala N. Comparative Perioperative Outcomes in Septuagenarians and Octogenarians Undergoing Radical Cystectomy for Bladder Cancer-Do Outcomes Differ? *Eur Urol Focus*. 2018;4(6):895-899. doi:10.1016/j.euf.2017.08.005
- 138. van Hemelrijck M, Thorstenson A, Smith P, Adolfsson J, Akre O. Risk of in-hospital complications after radical cystectomy for urinary bladder carcinoma: population-based follow-up study of 7608 patients. *BJU Int.* 2013;112(8):1113-1120. doi:10.1111/bju.12239

- 139. Osman Y, Harraz AM, El-Halwagy S, et al. Acute kidney injury following radical cystectomy and urinary diversion: predictors and associated morbidity. *Int Braz J Urol Off J Braz Soc Urol*. 2018;44(4):726-733. doi:10.1590/S1677-5538.IBJU.2017.0283
- 140. Kwon T, Jeong IG, Lee C, et al. Acute Kidney Injury After Radical Cystectomy for Bladder Cancer is Associated with Chronic Kidney Disease and Mortality. *Ann Surg Oncol.* 2016;23(2):686-693. doi:10.1245/s10434-015-4886-4
- 141. Ikehata Y, Tanaka T, Ichihara K, et al. Incidence and risk factors for acute kidney injury after radical cystectomy. *Int J Urol Off J Jpn Urol Assoc.* 2016;23(7):558-563. doi:10.1111/iju.13104
- 142. Joice GA, Tema G, Semerjian A, et al. Evaluation of Incisional Negative Pressure Wound Therapy in the Prevention of Surgical Site Occurrences After Radical Cystectomy: A New Addition to Enhanced Recovery After Surgery Protocol. *Eur Urol Focus*. 2020;6(4):698-703. doi:10.1016/j.euf.2019.09.016
- 143. Vejlgaard M, Maibom SL, Joensen UN, et al. Haemodynamic and respiratory perioperative outcomes for open versus robot-assisted radical cystectomy: A double-blinded, randomised trial. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand*. 2023;67(3):293-301. doi:10.1111/aas.14187
- 144. Dong L, Xiaoli F, Ya L, et al. Bayesian network analysis of long-term oncologic outcomes of open, laparoscopic, and robot-assisted radical cystectomy for bladder cancer. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2022;101(34):e30291. doi:10.1097/MD.000000000030291
- Semerjian A, Milbar N, Kates M, et al. Hospital Charges and Length of Stay Following Radical Cystectomy in the Enhanced Recovery After Surgery Era. *Urology*. 2018;111:86-91. doi:10.1016/j.urology.2017.09.010
- 146. Jefferies ER, Cresswell J, McGrath JS, et al. Open radical cystectomy in England: the current standard of care an analysis of the British Association of Urological Surgeons (BAUS) cystectomy audit and Hospital Episodes Statistics (HES) data. *BJU Int.* 2018;121(6):880-885. doi:10.1111/bju.14143
- 147. van der Vlies E, Los M, Stijns PEF, et al. Preoperative frailty and outcome in patients undergoing radical cystectomy. *BJU Int.* 2020;126(3):388-395. doi:10.1111/bju.15132
- Sathianathen NJ, Kalapara A, Frydenberg M, et al. Robotic Assisted Radical Cystectomy vs Open Radical Cystectomy: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *J Urol.* 2019;201(4):715-720. doi:10.1016/j.juro.2018.10.006
- 149. Aloia TA. Predicting Adverse Outcomes After Complex Cancer Surgery. *Ann Surg Oncol.* 2010;17(9):2260-2261. doi:10.1245/s10434-010-1179-9

- 150. Ray-Zack MD, Shan Y, Mehta HB, Yu X, Kamat AM, Williams SB. Hospital length of stay following radical cystectomy for muscle-invasive bladder cancer: Development and validation of a population-based prediction model. *Urol Oncol.* 2019;37(11):837-843. doi:10.1016/j.urolonc.2018.10.024
- 151. Kukreja JB, Metcalfe MJ, Qiao W, Kamat AM, Dinney CPN, Navai N. Cost-Effectiveness of Robot-assisted Radical Cystectomy Using a Propensity-matched Cohort. *Eur Urol Focus*. 2020;6(1):88-94. doi:10.1016/j.euf.2018.07.001
- 152. Mmeje CO, Martin AD, Nunez-Nateras R, Parker AS, Thiel DD, Castle EP. Cost analysis of open radical cystectomy versus robot-assisted radical cystectomy. *Curr Urol Rep.* 2013;14(1):26-31. doi:10.1007/s11934-012-0292-7
- Mjaess G, Diamand R, Aoun F, et al. Cost-analysis of robot-assisted radical cystectomy in Europe: A cross-country comparison. *Eur J Surg Oncol*. Published online August 11, 2022. doi:10.1016/j.ejso.2022.07.023
- 154. Monn MF, Cary KC, Kaimakliotis HZ, Flack CK, Koch MO. National trends in the utilization of robotic-assisted radical cystectomy: An analysis using the Nationwide Inpatient Sample. Urol Oncol Semin Orig Investig. 2014;32(6):785-790. doi:10.1016/j.urolonc.2014.04.007
- 155. Yu H yin, Hevelone ND, Lipsitz SR, et al. Comparative Analysis of Outcomes and Costs Following Open Radical Cystectomy Versus Robot-Assisted Laparoscopic Radical Cystectomy: Results From the US Nationwide Inpatient Sample. *Eur Urol.* 2012;61(6):1239-1244. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2012.03.032
- 156. Reddy AG, Sparks AD, Darwish C, Whalen MJ. Oncologic Outcomes for Robotic Vs. Open Radical Cystectomy Among Locally Advanced and Node-Positive Patients: Analysis of The National Cancer Database. *Clin Genitourin Cancer*. 2021;19(6):547-553. doi:10.1016/j.clgc.2021.07.006
- 157. Bansal SS, Dogra T, Smith PW, et al. Cost analysis of open radical cystectomy versus robot-assisted radical cystectomy. *BJU Int.* 2018;121(3):437-444. doi:10.1111/bju.14044
- 158. Su S, Gu L, Ma X, et al. Comparison of Laparoscopic and Robot-assisted Radical Cystectomy for Bladder Cancer: Perioperative and Oncologic Outcomes. *Clin Genitourin Cancer*. 2019;17(5):e1048-e1053. doi:10.1016/j.clgc.2019.06.007
- 159. Michels CTJ, Wijburg CJ, Hannink G, et al. Robot-assisted Versus Open Radical Cystectomy in Bladder Cancer: An Economic Evaluation Alongside a Multicentre Comparative Effectiveness Study. *Eur Urol Focus*. 2022;8(3):739-747. doi:10.1016/j.euf.2021.06.004

- 160. Morii Y, Osawa T, Suzuki T, et al. Cost comparison between open radical cystectomy, laparoscopic radical cystectomy, and robot-assisted radical cystectomy for patients with bladder cancer: a systematic review of segmental costs. *BMC Urol.* 2019;19(1):110. doi:10.1186/s12894-019-0533-x
- 161. S3-Leitlinie Harnblasenkarzinom. Published online 2020.
- 162. Arora S, Keeley J, Patel A, et al. Defining a "High Volume" Radical Cystectomy Hospital: Where Do We Draw the Line? *Eur Urol Focus*. 2020;6(5):975-981. doi:10.1016/j.euf.2019.02.001
- Richters A, Ripping TM, Kiemeney LA, et al. Hospital volume is associated with postoperative mortality after radical cystectomy for treatment of bladder cancer. *BJU Int.* 2021;128(4):511-518. doi:10.1111/bju.15334
- 164. Waingankar N, Mallin K, Smaldone M, et al. Assessing the relative influence of hospital and surgeon volume on short-term mortality after radical cystectomy. *BJU Int.* 2017;120(2):239-245. doi:10.1111/bju.13804
- 165. Maibom SL, Joensen UN, Poulsen AM, Kehlet H, Brasso K, Røder MA. Short-term morbidity and mortality following radical cystectomy: a systematic review. *BMJ Open*. 2021;11(4):e043266. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2020-043266
- 166. Afshar M, Goodfellow H, Jackson-Spence F, et al. Centralisation of radical cystectomies for bladder cancer in England, a decade on from the "Improving Outcomes Guidance": the case for super centralisation. *BJU Int*. 2018;121(2):217-224. doi:10.1111/bju.13929
- 167. Pyrgidis N, Sokolakis I, Haltmair G, Hatzichristodoulou G. The Short- and Long-Term Effect of Radical Cystectomy in Frail Patients With Bladder Cancer. *Clin Genitourin Cancer*. Published online March 11, 2023:S1558-7673(23)00063-0. doi:10.1016/j.clgc.2023.03.004
- 168. Pyrgidis N, Sokolakis I, Haltmair G, Hatzichristodoulou G. The effect of urinary diversion on renal function after cystectomy for bladder cancer: comparison between ileal conduit, orthotopic ileal neobladder, and heterotopic ileocecal pouch. *World J Urol.* 2022;40(12):3091-3097. doi:10.1007/s00345-022-04211-z
- 169. Garg T, Young AJ, Kost KA, et al. Burden of Multiple Chronic Conditions among Patients with Urological Cancer. *J Urol*. 2018;199(2):543-550. doi:10.1016/j.juro.2017.08.005
- Hussein AA, May PR, Jing Z, et al. Outcomes of Intracorporeal Urinary Diversion after Robot-Assisted Radical Cystectomy: Results from the International Robotic Cystectomy Consortium. *J Urol.* 2018;199(5):1302-1311. doi:10.1016/j.juro.2017.12.045
- 171. Busetto GM, D'Agostino D, Colicchia M, et al. Robot-Assisted, Laparoscopic, and Open Radical Cystectomy: Pre-Operative Data of 1400 Patients From The Italian Radical

Cystectomy Registry. *Front Oncol.* 2022;12. Accessed July 22, 2023. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2022.895460

- 172. Aminoltejari K, Hird AE, Klaassen Z, et al. Robotic Versus Open Cystectomy for Bladder Cancer: Synthesizing the Data from Current Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses. *Ann Surg Oncol.* 2023;30(5):2976-2987. doi:10.1245/s10434-022-12692-w
- 173. Pyrgidis N, Sokolakis I, Hatzichristodoulou G. COVID-19-related postponement of elective sexual or reproductive health operations deteriorates private and sexual life: an ongoing nightmare study. *Int J Impot Res.* 2022;34(2):158-163. doi:10.1038/s41443-022-00538-8
- 174. Paffenholz P, Peine A, Fischer N, et al. Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Urologists in Germany. *Eur Urol Focus*. 2020;6(5):1111-1119. doi:10.1016/j.euf.2020.06.001
- 175. Stensland KD, Morgan TM, Moinzadeh A, et al. Considerations in the Triage of Urologic Surgeries During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Eur Urol.* 2020;77(6):663-666. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2020.03.027
- 176. Ribal MJ, Cornford P, Briganti A, et al. European Association of Urology Guidelines Office Rapid Reaction Group: An Organisation-wide Collaborative Effort to Adapt the European Association of Urology Guidelines Recommendations to the Coronavirus Disease 2019 Era. *Eur Urol.* 2020;78(1):21-28. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2020.04.056
- Dotzauer R, Böhm K, Brandt MP, et al. Global change of surgical and oncological clinical practice in urology during early COVID-19 pandemic. *World J Urol.* 2021;39(9):3139-3145. doi:10.1007/s00345-020-03333-6
- Uimonen M, Kuitunen I, Seikkula H, Mattila VM, Ponkilainen V. Healthcare lockdown resulted in a treatment backlog in elective urological surgery during COVID-19. *BJU Int.* 2021;128(1):33-35. doi:10.1111/bju.15433
- Hobohm L, Sagoschen I, Barco S, et al. COVID-19 infection and its impact on case fatality in patients with pulmonary embolism. *Eur Respir J*. 2023;61(1):2200619. doi:10.1183/13993003.00619-2022
- Birkmeyer JD, Stukel TA, Siewers AE, Goodney PP, Wennberg DE, Lucas FL. Surgeon volume and operative mortality in the United States. *N Engl J Med*. 2003;349(22):2117-2127. doi:10.1056/NEJMsa035205
- 181. Morgan TM, Barocas DA, Keegan KA, et al. Volume outcomes of cystectomy--is it the surgeon or the setting? *J Urol*. 2012;188(6):2139-2144. doi:10.1016/j.juro.2012.08.042

## 10. Acknowledgements

At this point I would like to express my special thanks to the following persons, without their assistance the completion of this dissertation would have never been possible.

I would like to express the deepest appreciation to the supervisor of my dissertation, Associate Professor PD. Dr. med. Gerald Bastian Schulz. Without his guidance and persistent help, this dissertation would not have been possible. I have always found our dialogues encouraging and motivating. In addition, I would like to thank my co-supervisors, Professor Dr. med. Alexander Buchner and Associate Professor PD Dr. med. Philipp Kazmierczak, for their support during the preparation of this doctoral thesis.

My special thanks go to my parents, Maria Mavridou and Christos Pyrgidis, whose laborious patience and loving understanding have helped me to successfully deal with such a volume of work. Their moral everyday support has given me the strength and courage to complete my dissertation.

I am deeply grateful to Dr. Ioannis Farmakis for giving me the idea to request access to the DRG database, for sharing R codes with me and for providing solutions upon request. His valuable scientific assistance and undoubted effort has transcended academia.

Finally, this thesis would not have been possible without the continuous support of my family, my close friends, and colleagues during these turbulent times.

## 11. Affidavit



LUDWIG-MAXIMILIANS-UNIVERSITÄT MÜNCHEN

Promotionsbüro Medizinische Fakultät





**Eidesstattliche Versicherung** 

## **PYRGIDIS NIKOLAOS**

Name, Vorname

Ich erkläre hiermit an Eides statt, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertation mit dem Titel:

## Der Effekt des Krankenhaus-Caseloads auf die perioperative Morbidität und behandlungsassoziierte Kosten bei der radikalen Zystektomie

selbständig verfasst, mich außer der angegebenen keiner weiteren Hilfsmittel bedient und alle Erkenntnisse, die aus dem Schrifttum ganz oder annähernd übernommen sind, als solche kenntlich gemacht und nach ihrer Herkunft unter Bezeichnung der Fundstelle einzeln nachgewiesen habe.

Ich erkläre des Weiteren, dass die hier vorgelegte Dissertation nicht in gleicher oder in ähnlicher Form bei einer anderen Stelle zur Erlangung eines akademischen Grades eingereicht wurde.

München 20.12.2023

Nikolaos Pyrgidis

Ort, Datum

Unterschrift Doktorandin bzw. Doktorand